Clinical Protein Science and Bioanalytical Mass Spectrometry with an Emphasis on Lung Cancer

Ákos Végvári[†] and György Marko-Varga*,^{†,‡}

Division of Clinical Protein Science & Imaging, Biomedical Center, Department of Measurement Technology and Industrial Electrical Engineering, Lund University, BMC C13, SE-221 84 Lund, Sweden, and Department of Surgery, Tokyo Medical University, Tokyo, Japan

Received January 12, 2010

Contents

1. Introduction	3278
2. General Overview	3280
3. Protein Expression Analysis—Proteomics	3281
3.1. Post-translational Modification	3282
4. Protein Biomarkers and Targeted Analysis	3282
4.1. Targeted Approaches and Concepts	3282
5. Biomarkers	3283
5.1. Biomarker Classifications for Clinical Drug Studies	3283
6. Tissue Degradation Biomarkers	3284
6.1. Elastin and Collagen Degradation Biomarkers	3284
7. Cancer	3285
7.1. Lung Cancer	3285
7.2. Lung Cancer and Epidermal Growth Factor	3285
7.3. Epidermal Growth Factor and Drug Treatment	3286
7.4. Additional Studies on Lung Cancer	3288
8. Absolute Quantitation of Proteins	3289
8.1. Assay Principles	3289
8.2. Assay Design	3290
8.3. In Silico Processing	3290
8.4. Isotope Labeled Internal Standard Peptides	3291
8.5. Bioanalytical Assays for Candidate Biomarker Validation	3291
8.6. The MRM Technology Platform of Biomarkers	3292
8.7. MRM Applications	3292
9. Concluding Remarks and Outlook	3293
10. Acknowledgments	3294
11. References	3294

1. Introduction

There is a considerable shift in the demand and expectations on the health care systems of the future worldwide due to drift to chronic illnesses and aging demographics. This creates novel opportunities and challenges to the medical research community to drive a patient-centric and technology driven research strategy. Biological mass spectrometry plays a major role in the development of new medicines, as well as the understanding of diseases and disease mechanisms, where new drug developments play a key role. Lung cancer is a major target area within the health care system, with an

* To whom correspondence should be addressed at Lund University. Telephone: +46-46-222 3402. Fax: +46-46-222 4521. E-mail: Gyorgy. Marko-Varga@elmat.lth.se.



Ákos Végvári was born in Siklós, Hungary, in 1968. He got his degree in Biology in 1996 at the University of Pécs, Hungary, with a thesis on the bioanalytical applications of capillary electrophoresis. During the period of 1997-2001 and 1999-2003, he did his Ph.D. in analytical chemistry at the University of Pécs and in biochemistry at Uppsala University, Sweden, respectively, working on analytical methodology development for separation of low-molecular-weight compounds, peptides, proteins, and nucleic acids. Soon after, he joined a biotechnology company in Stockholm, working on the analytical evaluation of a newly developed AIDS drug. While at the Uppsala University, he was also working on other bioanalytical research as a postdoctoral fellow. In 2007 he moved to Lund, Sweden, where he is currently working at the Biomedical Center of Lund University. His main research interests focus on disease linked, mass spectrometry based proteome analysis, including targeted cancer proteomics as well as fundamental method development for localization of drug compounds in tissue sections by MALDI imaging mass spectrometry.

ever-increasing cost to society.^{1,2} Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) is the fastest growing lethal disease, especially in Asia, with no effective drugs available on the market. COPD patients are also at risk to develop lung cancer, where these causes and phenotype reasons are still unknown, as of today. Lung cancer and COPD are the leading causes of smoking related mortality worldwide, whereas lung cancer continues to be the most common cause of cancer death in men in the EU, with 178,400 deaths estimated in 2004 (27.3% of all cancer deaths).³ With new developments of biomarkers, the disease associations will lead to new routines, delivering earlier diagnosis of COPD, emphysema, and lung cancer. Furthermore, wider mass spectrometry applications of these quantitative methodologies in current practice would aid in the differentiation of patients with high and low turnover states at disease, and differing needs, in regard to clinical intervention and treatment strategies and subsequent health care costs to society.

The development of new diagnostic biomarkers has a great potential, where both industry and the academic field are

[†] Lund University.

^{*} Tokyo Medical University.



György Marko-Varga has been working as a senior Drug, Discovery/ Development scientist at Astra, and AstraZeneca for a period of 17 years. Marko-Varga started in 1993 at Astra as a Lead Scientist coordinating a collaboration on inflammatory mechanisms and pathway biology with Bengt Samuelsson, the Nobel Price Lauriate at the Karolinska Institute. He was heading the AstraZeneca Global Proteomics Network and was responsible for developing clinical biomarker platforms, used in clinical studies. In 2006, Marko-Varga established "Nietorp AB", a MicroTechnology company within AstraZeneca. He had responsibilites in several "Gefitinib" (-IRESSA-), Protein Biomarker Discovery studies in Japan (2004-2009), working with 52 Lung Cancer Clinical Centres throughout Japan. This has been the biggest biomarker study initiative in the industry, with more than 6,000 patients. Developing novel diagnostic assays and platforms, interfacing high resolution separation with mass spectrometry applied to lung cancer and COPD disease areas, and building an understanding of mode of drug action in disease mechanisms are currently research areas that he is building new research groups around in collaborations with pharma, academics, and clinical hospitals. György Marko-Varga has filed 17 patents worldwide, published 200 scientific papers in international peer reviewed journals, edited 2 books, and coauthored 7 books. In 2010, Marko-Varga became the Head of the Division of Clinical Protein Science & Imaging at the Biomedical Center, Lund University, and also became Professor at Department of Surgery, Tokyo Medical University, Tokyo, Japan. One of his major challenges will be responsibility for the "Big Three" study, Lung Cancer, Cardio Vascular disease, and COPD, with 400,000 patients (2010-2014) in Sweden.

investing and exploring approaches to harness technology to make innovative discoveries.^{4–9} There are currently large numbers of putative diagnostic markers to be assessed where validations in clinical studies are needed to determine which combination of markers has the greatest diagnostic and prognostic power.

In clinical protein science, new and future complementary technologies, such as protein shotgun sequencing and quantitative mass spectrometry, have been instrumental in these advancements.^{10–14} With at least 20,000 gene products and their multiple structural variations involved in disease pathobiology, this has become a tremendous challenge.¹⁵ No bioanalytical technology today can measure such high numbers of proteins, being expressed in clinical samples.^{16,17} Lack of sensitivity is another major challenge, and even today, there is no PCR for proteins to address this problem.

Today's mass spectrometry instrumentation and its merits was pioneered by Fenn's group on electrospray instrumentation,¹⁸ while MALDI developments by Karas and Hillen-kamp,¹⁹ and Tanaka,²⁰ and their innovations were honored with a Nobel Prize in 2002. These were seen as the inventions that would revolutionize and change our way of working with Clinical Protein Science.

There is an ever-increasing interest in the area of clinical understanding of disease and malfunctions of patients and a focus on optimal drug treatment for the patients. Smoking constitutes a unique global public health problem with increasing burden on the health care system due to smoking related comorbidities. In addition, increased life expectancy is leading to geriatric and chronic illnesses. The predominant diseases in this regard are obesity, diabetes type 2, neuro-degenerative disease, cardiovascular disease, cancer in general, and pulmonary diseases, such as COPD and lung cancer.²¹ Though considerable progress is being made, there is still an unmet need for the "holy grail" of how to manage and address these health care challenges.

Clearly, these shortcomings are well-known to governments and health care institutions on a global scale. In Europe, for instance, the European Commission has dedicated large-scale research programs to address the developments of disease mechanism research within dedicated research areas,²² and so has the National Institutes of Health (NIH) in the USA, as well as other sponsoring bodies in the world. In a joint effort between Europe and the U.S., there have been common strategies of how systems biology can be useful in cancer research.²³

Globally, there is an increasing interest and need to support research areas that can help to solve disease understanding and improve on patient care, including novel medicines such as "Personalized Medicine" and alternative treatment technologies and early indications of disease diagnosis utilizing both imaging techniques and biomarker diagnostics. Ultimately it is the patients who are suffering and experiencing these limitations in the treatments of today. The combination of imaging techniques and their relation to biological changes that can be measured on a molecular level is currently one front line research field attracting a lot of attention. Combining Computer Tomography with protein expression^{24,25} will, for instance, provide a landmark of tissue changes that could be identified in rheumatoid arthritis or lung disorders such as emphysema and bronchial wall changes, that has a link to inflammation of the pulmonary tracts.^{26,27} Classical histology in combination with mass spectrometry has also been shown to be useful in finding common morphological changes, that can be correlated with protein expressions.^{28,29} Lately, there was a combination of quantitative mass spectrometry and cryoelectron tomography that was able to localize protein complexes of pathogens in human cytoplasm,³⁰ as well as imaging mass spectrometry with matrix assisted laser desorption ionization (MALDI,)^{31,32} that recently also proved to be readily compatible with archived formalin fixed tissues.³³ As the resolving power of imaging techniques is improved with better optics and computer power, we are approaching microenvironments that scale down to <1 mm regions and in some cases to single cells, striving for intracellular organelles. The very latest developments within the area of mass spectrometry imaging allow drug localization at 300–500 μ m resolution,^{34–36} and the compound imaging process steps are outlined in Figure 1. Complementary to MALDI-MS imaging, secondary ion mass spectrometry (SIMS) has a higher resolving power, down to <10 nm. SIMS recently improved its ability to overcome its low sensitivity for high-mass moleculular weight analytes, by using a MALDI matrix (matrix enhanced SIMS³⁷), gold coatings,³⁸ or polyatomic ion,³⁹ providing improved signals for a broad range of analytes, including peptides and proteins.⁴⁰ The application of SIMS imaging on breast cancer cell lines of MCF-7, T47D, and MDA-MB-231 allowed the differentiation and identification of these cell types in homogenates.⁴¹ Furthermore, recently, SIMS demonstrated

Tissue sectioning



Figure 1. Illustration of the molecular imaging process: including tissue sectioning, hisological staining, tissue section preparation, readiness for tissue imaging, and localization of drug compound by MALDI-imaging mass spectrometry.

its applicability with formalin-fixed paraffin-embedded sample analysis.⁴² All these combinations can provide future understanding of the complex biology ongoing in diseases and disease evolvements. We know that proteins have cellular roles as primary effectors that are impacting biological functions. Successes in these areas will be mandatory, in order to outline both mechanisms and markers of disease for future clinical use.

2. General Overview

Protein science, with a focus on bioanalytical assays used in the health care area, with qualitative and quantitative measurements, helps in early indication of disease and disease progression. This focus also includes the understanding of the disease link of any given target protein, protein alteration upon drug treatment, and general human safety measures. Patient safety and toxicity are areas of expansion with a high priority in today's clinical and biomedical developments.^{24,43} The usefulness and interest in developing methodologies and assays for diagnostic application of protein analysis is a priority and is increasing. Advancing protein analysis for clinical use is aimed toward diagnostics and biomarkers, where proteins have been used as markers of disease for more than 150 years.⁴⁴ The fast development within this field is owed to the improvements in technology that have been made within the mass spectrometry field, along with new enabling tools and methods for quantitative proteome analysis.^{8,15,45,46} The high resolution nanochromatographic separation being interfaced with sequencing mass spectrometry, as part of the technology platform, is currently the most powerful protein analysis engine, that became the global "work horse" in biological protein science.44 The ability to work with methodologies that provide a quantitative description of proteins being expressed in a disease state, with the levels of possible association with drug action, is central in front line bioanalytical protein measurements.^{47–49} Today, there is a high unmet need in the medical area for methods, instrumentation, and diagnostic capabilities that can meet the demand for improvements within the clinical health care area. These demands extend from early indicators of disease, through disease severity, to the evolvement phases of disease, on to therapeutic efficacy. Furthermore, these demands extend through to the next generation of personalized drugs, as well as to proteinbased biopharmaceuticals. Within all these clinical stages, correlations to biomarkers are critical and highly important victories that science must win. This is the case in order to improve medical efficiency in an elderly and growing population, as well as to give hope and relief for suffering patients.⁵⁰

Post-translational modifications of proteins are of central importance in disease and clinical analysis. Biological activation and initiation within diseases are very much related to smaller modifications such as phosphorylation,⁵¹ acety-lation, methylation, sulfatation, and glycosylation of proteins.^{52,53} Phosphorylation of proteins has been shown to affect an approximation of one-third of all proteins. Phosphorylation.⁵⁴ Within proteins, there are a large number of modifications occurring as metabolic activity within cells, organs, and biofluids. The challenge of today is to use advanced bioanalytical technology to identify the key regulatory position where on–off modifications occur, and that is linked to protein functional events.⁵⁵

Currently, today in clinical chemistry, more than 200 proteins originating from 211 genes are being analyzed in blood plasma and serum with an addition of a large number of protein markers that are used for flow cytometry, as red cell antigens, and as tissue antigens.⁵⁰ Interestingly, none of these clinical targets have been generated from the proteomics or biological mass spectrometry research fields.⁵⁰ In an extensive survey, Anderson outlined the challenges and opportunities of new protein markers that have been approved for diagnostic use in clinical laboratories for cardiovascular diseases.^{44,56}

As of today, there are no guidelines from the Food and Drug Administration (FDA) or European Medicines Agency (EMEA) for the Protein Analysis field. However, there are ongoing biomarker projects, where the FDA in collaboration with the pharmaceutical industry is looking into standardization procedures for future use. The pharmagenomics area, on the other hand, has been given a guideline for industry to use upon submission of data to the FDA (http://www. fda.gov/downloads/RegulatoryInformation/Guidances/ ucm126957.pdf). This document is an important milestone and a collaborative effort between the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, FDA, the Center for Drug Evaluation and Research (CDER), the Center for Biologics Evaluation and Research (CBER), and the Center for Devices and Radiological Health (CDRH). A similar guideline is to be expected in the not too far future that will regulate the data quality and format required to be used in drug development and clinical biomarker and diagnostic developments. The FDA also has a program on protein based multiplex assays.57

Biomarkers are targeted biomolecules, used to define a state of presence or a state of change in a given biology. These markers are often of Protein or peptide origin but can also be DNA (genetic), RNA (transcript), or other endogenous small molecules such as fatty acids and metabolites (metabolomics). Biomarkers are defined as "a characteristic that is objectively measured and evaluated as an indicator of normal biologic processes, pathogenic processes, or pharmacologic responses to a therapeutic intervention" (Biomarker Definitions Working Group FDA–1998).

The biomarker field has taken its time to evolve. While even Wall Street⁵⁸ was valuing the area as highly profitable and futuristic, the quick pay back did not happen, as



Figure 2. Protein assay development process from discovery to targeted MRM assay developments.

expected. The "Hype Cycle" theoretical model (http:// www.gartner.com/technology/research/methodologies/research_ hype.jsp), introduced for the adoption and business application by Gartner (Stamford, CT), explains this phenomenon. According to the "Hype Cycle", we have passed the technology trigger phase, passing through disillusionment, and are at an increasing phase of enlightenment, within the Biomarker technology area. We are at a stage when the biomarker field, after a build up phase, is developing at a fast speed. One reason for this change is the value for the pharmaceutical industry to use biomarkers in decision making, on candidate drugs that are being tested in the clinic.

The biomarker research field of today covers the pharmaceutical and diagnostic pipeline, including safety and efficacy assessment in drug discovery, biomarker translation from preclinical to clinical studies, and biomarker applications in clinical trials, including patient selections. Biomarkers are today a concept and tool within clinical studies that are used to ensure the quality of drug effects. Conceptually they will be used in relation to the clinical phase of testing (see Figure 2).

3. Protein Expression Analysis—Proteomics

Within the area of bioanalytical analysis of proteins, there has been extensive progress made in the past decade. Proteomics, the area of protein expression analysis, is the research field where most of the technology currently used today has been developed.^{59–61} In retrospect, one of the first reports that was presented on the ability to map protein expression in human blood plasma was made with 2D gel electrophoresis with intact proteins¹⁶ instead of the protein digest protocol,⁶² followed by LC-MS, that is the most commonly used separation and mass spectrometry platform of today.⁶³ In fact, the idea to map the entire human proteome was already presented by Anderson and Anderson in the 1980s.⁶⁴ The "Human Protein Index" was the definition and

science direction at the time of the agenda for postproteomic biology that Anderson and Anderson proclaimed.⁶⁴ This task was somewhat ambitious and more difficult than anyone had foreseen. Nevertheless, this task was still under heavy debate at the first HUPO World Congress that was held in Versailles, France, in 2002 (http://www.hupo.org/meetings/congress/?1). The developments within the Proteomics field of today were highlighted by the GenomeWeb Daily News Articles for 2009, where biomarker developments for Lou Gehrig's disease (amyotrophic lateral sclerosis, "ALS") were No. 3 of the top 10 most-read articles of the year.

The major protein analysis principles that have progressed over the years have been divided into the following:

Global expression analysis, where thousands of proteins can be analyzed and sequenced in a minute amount of sample.

Targeted analysis, where a specific and smaller set of proteins are measured in dedicated assays. In the last few years, MRM multiplex assays have become very popular due to their generic concept and the ability to generate multiplex quantitations²⁹ (for more details, see section 8.6 below).

Global expression studies are generally used in a "Discovery phase", including a wide scale analysis of many thousands of peptide sequences that originates from digested proteins. This global protein expression analysis field is the area of proteomics research.⁶⁵ Proteomics of today holds the postgenomic research activities, in one big research community, where many of the successes are and, it will be expected to deliver on the understanding of the complex pathophysiology.⁶⁶ In one respect, the proteomics field has played a significant role in opening up a number of doors that have been important for other researchers, such as the clinical field. The current status is an extensive discovery phase protein candidate delivery, that has been reported on by the proteomics society, where still the extended validation of candidate proteins still remains to be pursued. A number of books covering various clinical and biomedical areas have recently been published, presenting the latest technology developments within separation science and mass spectrometry. These disease areas are as follows: cancer,⁶⁷ renal and urinary,⁶⁸ cardiovascular,⁶⁹ neurology and CNS,⁷⁰ biotechnology and industry,⁷¹ and general.^{72–74}

The marriage and the interface between high-resolution chromatographic separation and mass spectrometry have been a critical part of the platform developments. As the samples are more complex and contain many more proteins than we are able to analyze, the high resolving chromatographic separation will need to deliver multiple-peptide fractions of protein sequences into the mass spectrometer. No separation technology of today manages to resolve all proteins in a clinical sample such as blood plasma with millions of proteins. Correspondingly, the identified proteins of interest, that the system is going to determine, will need to be identified, where the assay needs to be optimized accordingly. The separation of this high number of peptide sequences can be performed utilizing one separation mechanism, that in most cases is a hydrophobic separation step utilizing an organic modifier/aqueous mixture of mobile phases. Multidimensional separations are being used when high separation power is required. This approach, when interfaced to mass spectrometry, was first reported by Yates' group.⁷⁵ There have been additional reports on the combination of liquid phase separation mechanisms⁷⁶ and the resolving power achieved in both plasma fractions,^{63,77} as well as quantitative profiling in urine.78-80

3.1. Post-translational Modification

Post-translational modification is most often interconnected with protein function within disease biology. In this respect, phospho-speciation of protein activation has been extensively studied. MIDAS is one system, being a method that is monitoring the initiated detection and sequencing, with a highly sensitive approach to determine protein phosphory-lation.⁸¹ Most commonly, isolation of phosphorylated proteins from complex clinical samples has been made in a sample preparation step,⁸² prior to analysis by affinity capture to lectin^{83,84} and TiO₂ supports.^{85,86}

An interesting approach recently reported was the verification of associated proteins' phosphorylation and gene expression. In this study, the group quantified the phosphopeptide expression and identified a total of more than 4,000 proteins.^{81,87} In another investigation, the influence of cigarette smoking on endothelial cells was studied by monitoring the protein phosphorylation. Following *in vitro* exposure of human microvascular endothelial cells to extracts of cigarette smoke total particulate matter, 94 proteins were putatively identified as differentially phosphorylated.⁸⁸ Phosphorylated proteins proved to be linked with ovarian cancer in comparisons of late stage cancer and pooled control groups, idenfying the phosphorylated fibrinogen- α -chain isoform upregulated in cancer patients' plasma.⁸⁹

Glycoproteins similarly undergo a high number of modifications within biological processing. The glycosylation can be very high within a glycoprotein, in many cases >50%. A very recent report presented a differential labeling technique, using [$^{12}C_6$]-glucose and [$^{13}C_6$]-glucose that considered all possible glycations.⁹⁰ These ^{13}C -reducing sugars were applied to quantitative analysis of glycated proteins in human plasma. Nonenzymatically generated modifications were quantified, where the positional amino groups were located in the N-terminal position or in the lysine and arginine residues.

The protein separation, using different fractionation techniques in blood serum, was summarized for all N-linked glycopeptides. These fractionation schemes were developed and interfaced to mass spectrometry platforms.⁹¹ One general conclusion was that the incorporation of an immunoaffinity isolation step was found to be the most effective means for protein target isolation.

Another study on congenital disorders of glycosylation (CDG) was performed with the objective to quantify the extent of underglycosylation in healthy control and patient serum samples.⁹² It was found that among glycoproteins there was 98–100% occupancy for all *N*-glycosylation sites of transferrin and α -1-antitrypsin. The study also presented a correlation of transferrin glycosylation site occupancy versus clinical presentation using MRM technology.⁹³

Proteomics as a research area will not be able to make successes and deliveries on its own. The collaborative effort and cross sections science activities are a general trend we already experience today where we see a fast expansion and growth within many science fields. One such example is the natural link where the medical field itself is collaborating in closely designed clinical studies with the protein expression research field. As a natural progressive step, statisticians with new algorithms are mining the large data masses that are being generated. The clinical role that these new proteins found, and their functional role, is also of major importance in order to be able to make a *Disease Link* to the bioanalytical discoveries. The bioinformatics scientists play a very important role in the collaborative proteomic studies.^{94,95}

4. Protein Biomarkers and Targeted Analysis

4.1. Targeted Approaches and Concepts

Diseases are very often multifactorial and are driven by more than one biological mechanism. Diseases are also in many cases not a one-point position of a treatment event. On the contrary, it is a situation where multifold biologies are cooperatively making out the disease effects. These are reasons why the diagnosis of the disease is a highly important part of the health care process. The diagnosis as such will appear in the very beginning when the patient first meets the doctor, the responsible physician, but the diagnosis will be repeated several times throughout the treatment of the disease.

Currently, protein quantitation is preferably performed with an immunoreagent based assay technique, where there are a large number of methodologies available. Currently, ELISA kits and reagent clinical flow injection assays are being used in highly automated analysis platforms where robotic instrumentation is state-of-the-art. However, modern mass spectrometry developments have already brought sufficient power together with supplementary methodologies, that prove as a strong complement to immunoreaction based technologies in biomarker research.⁹⁶

As there is an interest in trying to understand complex biology such as the stratification in disease, the systems biology approach is gaining more and more interest.^{97–99} Systems biology will help us to link the different parts of the ongoing events and build them into one common view, explaining how the system works. This will make it possible to open up new and efficient future treatments. In this context, the information that is needed in the clinical field

for improved medical treatments is increasing. We see the rise of high-density protein arrays,^{100–103} as well as tissue microarrays.^{104,105} The methods with zeptomole detection limits for the analysis of low-abundance proteins were already demonstrated.¹⁰⁶ These techniques and methods often give semiquantitative data qualities with a read-out value that will be based on the number and amount of antigen and antigenlike analytes within the assay. High quality antibodies are not easy to get hold of, although the human protein resource (HPR) project, with the aim to systematically map the human proteome is progressing strongly.^{107,108}

Another development line that is gaining much attention is the use of mass spectrometry based multiplex assay technologies that will be described in detail below. In these assay formats, both selected reaction monitoring (SRM) and multiple reaction monitoring (MRM) techniques, where absolute quantification is generated, are used.^{107,109,110} The SRM/MRM area is quickly taking hold and developing to simultaneously measure 10–100 analytes in one assaycycle.¹¹¹ The assay development work has progressed in two steps. The discovery phase was initiated by a global expression study where the most interesting biomarker candidates were differentially expressed. This discovery phase was followed up by quantitative assay development in the second phase, where a selected list of biomarkers was analyzed in a SRM or MRM assay (see section 8).

5. Biomarkers

Biomarkers are probably one of the areas within biomedical research that gathers scientists into a cross-functional work relationship. Here, clinicians that meet patients every day collaborate with high tech science groups, and statistics/ informatics groups. Most of the new technology platforms generate multitudes of data from a biology of interest, where the informatics and mathematics groups are needed to help elucidate the value and the interpretation of these results. The health care area and clinical organizations are utilizing these developments and are expecting pay back, by means of new and useful protein assays, in the treatment of patients.44 In addition, there are extensive developments ongoing, where ELISA tests¹¹² are being challenged by new mass spectrometry based assay principles.113-117 Biomarker perspectives and overviews, where new technology progress plays a central role in cancer and other disease areas, were recently presented by joint research initiatives.^{118,119}

Biomarkers can be divided into several classes:

Primary biomarkers, *e.g.*, EGF signaling kinases (*low abundant*).

Secondary biomarkers (*low-medium abundant*), indirect biomarkers that are a resulting outcome of the signaling pathway biology.

Tertiary biomarkers (*medium-high abundant*), proteins that are associated with functional changes in disease, e.g., tissue degradation in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) and asthma, measuring elastin and collagen connective lung tissue proteins.^{120,121}

Disease biomarkers *can be low-medium-high abundant* directly related to the disease; both to be used as diagnostic markers, e.g., PSA and HERB2, and S100, KL6 in prostate, breast, and lung cancer, respectively (see Figure 3).



Figure 3. Illustration of biomarkers identified within a given clinical disease study.

5.1. Biomarker Classifications for Clinical Drug Studies

Biomarkers for "Proof of Mechanism"

A biomarker demonstrates an effect, which results in a functional change related to the proposed mechanism of action. The proof of mechanism effects can be measured, for instance, with an in vivo assay, where an effect is measured following an appropriate stimulus.

Biomarkers for "Proof of Principle"

A biomarker demonstrates an effect that results in a biological change, closely related to the proposed mechanism of action and known to be associated with disease activity in patients. The proof of principle biomarker readouts are proven in a dedicated patient study. It can be a measure of, for example, an acute phase marker regulation in patient studies after drug intervention.

Biomarkers for "Proof of Concept"

The biomarkers used in clinical studies which relate to the proof of concept will be measuring a study end point that demonstrates an effect on a clinical end point. Proof of concept biomarker evaluation needs to be carried out in patients with the disease in question. In cancer studies, for instance, a tumor reduction would be a positive effect where the biomarker quantitation provides a positive effect that has been achieved.

Another area of intense development is the health care field, where disease diagnosis is a great burden to hospitals. Within the drug development process, there is a successive use of biomarkers, such as the following:

- biomarkers in translational medicine
- safety and toxicity biomarkers
- biomarkers for clinical pharmacology
- patient stratification biomarkers
- monitoring of response to therapy
- molecular diagnostics biomarkers

Biomarkers can be acting as primary molecular agents, where the protein is found to be directly related to the biological event. These proteins are often low abundant with few copies expressed per cell, and in the low, or subpicogram to nanogram per milliliter concentration region. Receptor ligands, cytokines, chemokines, and growth factors are examples of primary biomarkers. Secondary biomarkers are proteins that are a response to an effect driven by a primary biomarker, such as a target interaction or a growth factor stimulation. Usually these protein markers are medium abundant proteins within the nanogram to microgram per



Figure 4. Illustration of the biomarker relationship of target to disease.

milliliter concentration region. Tertiary biomarkers are expressed at medium to high abundance, which can be the outcome of a functional effect.

Remodeling of an organ, such as the lung, may occur as a functional change within asthma, fibrosis, and other pulmonary diseases.^{122,123} In these cases, connective tissue proteins within the cellular network, are exchanged, thereby altering the organ effects and the morphology within the lung structure.¹²⁴ These biomarkers are usually in the microgram to milligram per milliliter concentration levels. Another group of biomarkers that play an important role in the clinical field are the markers used to identify disease or changes of disease.

Most of the biomarker discovery studies have been made within the cancer area (Figure 4). An extensive candidate cancer biomarker list with 1,261 targeted proteins differentially expressed in human cancer was presented.⁶⁶ Interestingly, this report found that only 9 out of the 1,261 proteins have been approved as "tumor associated antigens" by the FDA. This initiative was also aimed at closing the gap that currently exists between basic research and clinical use of advanced diagnostics. As a global initiative within cancer research, the "Candidate List of your Biomarkers" initiative has been made. A public web-based database was developed for cancer biomarker research, and all the comprehensive data have been reported by the research community.¹²⁵

Current ongoing clinical drug studies make use of the proof of principle, proof of mechanism, and proof of concept biomarkers and use them for decision making. Looking into the future generation of drugs, it is anticipated that an increasing number of "Personalized Medicine" drugs will be made available for patients. Personalized Medicine can be defined as the link of disease and patient to a drug through an accompanying biomarker test. The goal is to have very selective drugs with high specificity for a given patient group.^{126,127} Upon use of these drugs, the specific patient group needs to be defined, and this is where the biomarker analysis step comes in, helping the patient segregation to be made. These drugs have already been introduced and are currently used by an ever-increasing number of patients globally.

6. Tissue Degradation Biomarkers

Tissue degrading products such as small proteins and/or peptides have been investigated in biofluids such as blood, urine, and sputum, bronchial and bronchialveolar lavage (BAL). As an example, the protein breakdown from the connective tissue of the lung originates from both elastin and collagens. Correspondingly, the degradation product discovery studies have focused on desmosine, and its respective variants, and hydroxyproline, correspondingly. The two pyridinium amino acids, desmosine (D) and isodesmosine (I), are positional isomers which have been found in pulmonary tissue to serve as cross-linking agents that bind the polymeric chains of amino acids into a 3D-network of elastin.^{128,129} The degradation of elastin-containing tissues that occurs in several widely prevalent diseases, such as pulmonary emphysema, COPD, cystic fibrosis, atherosclerosis, aortic aneurysm, etc., has been associated with the biomarker excretion in the urine. Until now, these biomarkers with M_w = 526 were found to occur in urine only as higher molecular weight ($M_w = 1,000-1,500$) peptides.

In most cases, a sample preparation protocol includes acid hydrolysis of the urine with elevated temperature. The quantitative bioanalytical method applied LC-MS with electrospray ionization. Lower limits of quantitations were at the 100 pg level. Applications were made in study subjects of both healthy controls and COPD patients.¹³⁰

6.1. Elastin and Collagen Degradation Biomarkers

Hydroxyproline is a useful biomarker where assays have been worked out by several groups over two decades. Liquid chromatography separation interfaced with mass spectrometry using internal standards is the basic bioanalytical platform that has been developed.^{28,131,132} These quantitative assays have been related to chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and lung cancer, for emphysema developments. The collagen and elastin degradation rate is the clinical measure that these assays have been developed to analyze.¹³³

The role of elastin and collagen degradation in the urine of smokers with and without chronic obstructive pulmonary disease was reported on with quantitative methods.^{132,134–136} These platforms have also been used for *in vivo* translational developments with smoking disease models where both neutrophils and macrophage metalloelastase correlations have been accomplished.

Desmosine, which is a degradation product from pulmonary elastin, is an additional disease biomarker that is related to emphysema in inflammatory lung diseases. Molecular forms of elastin and its value as a biomarker were already worked on in 1976.¹³⁷ Desmosine quantitation has also been quantified in cystic fibrosis of the lung.¹³⁸ Very recent quantitative biomarker methodologies using MS-identification were developed, utilizing both electrokinetic capillary chromatography and liquid chromatography.¹³⁹⁻¹⁴³ Most of these assays have been developed measuring total desmosine. Recently, a more specific analysis was developed where both free desmosine and isodesmosine in human urine and their peptide-bound forms in sputum were quantified.^{130,144} In order to enhance the sensitivity of the assay, NanoLC was interfaced with MS/MS for the quantification of urinary desmosine and isodesmosine.¹⁴⁵ Desmosine has also been used in drug effect studies, and a tiotropium therapy effects study has also been investigated.¹⁴⁶ In summary, interesting protein biomarker analysis developments are ongoing that can be useful for patients who significantly benefit from epidermal growth factor receptor tyrosine kinase inhibitors (EGFR-TKIs).¹⁴⁷ At present, the scientific development focus is directed toward the ability to discover novel protein efficacy biomarkers with 1.217 nonsmall cell lung cancer (NSCLC) patients selected for adenocarcinoma and smoking status in Asia.147

7. Cancer

Cancer is the disease area where most of the progress in biomarker discovery science has been made. The reason is clear, which also reflects the overall health care priority that is practiced in the world today. Cancer is quickly becoming more of a global burden, with increasing incidence in the developing world as well as in the developed world. Lung cancer is the most common cancer worldwide, and it accounts for 1.2 million new cases annually, followed by cancer of the breast, just over 1 million cases, while the three leading cancer killers are different than the three most common forms, with lung cancer responsible for 17.8% of all cancer deaths, stomach, 10.4%, and liver, 8.8%. Males have a predominance of lung, liver, stomach, esophageal, and bladder cancer, and these differences derive from patterns of exposure to the causes of the cancers, and to a smaller extent, they reflect intrinsic gender differences in susceptibility. Screening and genetic based assays offer the best hope to prevent the cancers and also to target specific treatments against each cancer type. Biomarkers are expected to be an even more valuable tool in future cancer treatments.^{148–150} This was recently outlined for European infrastructure, following the Stockholm Declaration,¹⁵¹ as well as for FDA perspectives.152

7.1. Lung Cancer

Smoking is the largest cause of disease within the lung cancer patient group, although organic cooking, occupational health, and air pollution are additional causes. Only in the U.S., close to 1.5 million patients are identified each year, and the mortality currently targeted for 2009 is 562,000. It is well-known that cigarette smoke is the major cause of lung cancer, as well as the leading cause of cancer deaths. In addition, COPD has become the fourth leading cause of death in the United States. Within the lung cancer patient group, the dominating phenotype is NSCLC, with a frequency as high as approximately 80%. The prognosis for this patient group is still very poor, with only 15% surviving 5 years.¹⁵³ Within the field of NSCLC, there are recent findings that look interesting and promising, where new pathways and key regulating proteins are identified and further progressed for validation.¹⁵⁴

Specific molecular targeted therapy in lung cancer with a new clinical rationale and biology was introduced less than a decade ago.^{147,155–157} Interestingly, the last half-decade has brought forward a shift in paradigm toward personalized medicine in lung cancer therapy, and in this respect, both genetic and protein biomarker discovery activities have played a role.

7.2. Lung Cancer and Epidermal Growth Factor

In an early phase, epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) was identified as a target for anticancer drugs due to the high frequency of overexpression in cancers. Unexpectedly, it was discovered that Asian mutations in the EGFR are found to be as high as 40-60%, while the same level is at 10-15% in the western population, a very interesting observation that is proving to have medical consequences for cancer frequency, based on a genetic background probably, but certainly a molecular difference, that is presenting in a variation of EGF-pathway signaling. Secondary and tertiary effects in protein expression differences are expected to open up opportunities to identify new biomarker candidates. Correlation studies with epidermal growth factor receptors in nonsmall-cell lung carcinomas proved the correlation between protein expression and the gene copy number, with an impact on prognosis.¹⁵⁸ These are evidences that the current development is directed toward the developments of biomarker diagnosis.

Already today, NSCLC patients are treated based upon biomarker indications on assays confirming apparent EGFR mutations,¹⁵⁹ where commercial kits are available. Future trials are expected to include protein biomarker treatment of molecular targeted agents. Big efforts have been made where the molecular mechanisms of receptor tyrosine kinase (RTK) function has been the heart of research developments, by understanding RTKs role in the signaling pathways governing fundamental cellular processes, especially when EGFR is mutated or structurally altered. These findings have been very important in order to develop new lung cancer drugs. Interestingly, a group at Genentech identified another biomarker candidate, HER2, that showed a high level of homology to human EGFR.¹⁶⁰

The overexpression of HER2 in tumors and reduced patient survival and time to relapse were milestone findings, and the role as a prognostic factor could later be developed into a biomarker for breast and ovarian cancer.¹⁶¹

It is evident in Asian populations that the majority of the NSCLC treated patients with activated mutations achieved a durable and effective response with EGFR TKI-treatment, such as Gefitinib (IRESSA)¹⁶² and Erlotinib (TARCEVA).¹⁶³

Today, the pathological grading by histology remains the golden standard for the determination of the disease progression and characterization, in clinical science. The bioanalytical technology and methodology developments will have to make the link to these pathohistological measures in order to prove their value. As there occurs molecular tissue leakages from the lung through the vascular system, these proteins that are engaged in the active biology of the lung pathology will eventually be entering into the bloodstream. These are reasons why biofluids such as blood plasma and serum are the most common sample type in clinical chemistry. The additional biofluids most often used in clinical studies are bronchial lavage, bronchialveolar lavage, sputum, exhaled breath condensate, and isolated cells from pulmonary tracts and compartments.^{164,165}



Figure 5. Schematic illustration of the EGFR signaling pathway.

The discovery of the epidermal growth factor protein earned Stanley Cohen a Nobel Prize in Physiology and Medicine in 1986.^{166,167} The pioneering work by Cohen on cellular growth factors has been shown to be fundamental for the understanding of the development of cancer as well as in the development and design of anticancer drugs. The EGFR is a multifactorial protein that is a member of the HER family of receptor tyrosine kinases: HER1/EGFR, HER2/ERBB2/NEU, HER3/ERBB3, and HER4/ERBB4. The EGFR is a membrane glycoprotein with an observed molecular weight of 170-kDa in plasma. The receptor contains an extracellular ligand-binding domain, with a single transmembrane region and an intracellular domain. In addition, there is a C-terminal tail with multiple phosphorylation.¹⁶⁸ The extracellular domain is composed of four subdomains that contain two cysteine-rich domains and comprise the ligand-binding domain. The other parts of the extracellular domain mediate receptor dimerization and interactions with other membrane proteins. The EGFR-trans membrane domain mainly is a site for feedback attenuation by protein kinase C ERK and MAP kinases.¹⁶⁹

The EGFR has been identified as one target of lung cancer, with proven associations, where EGFR has been shown to be clearly up-regulated in disease.¹⁷⁰ In the last few years, there has been a shift of paradigm toward targeted treatment where small molecule drugs or monoclonal antibodies are being used for patient treatment.¹⁷¹

Upon ligand binding and subsequent signaling, there is an induction occurring whereby dimerization through a receptor-mediated mechanism occurs. Next, the dimerization induces the kinase activity, which will lead to an autophosphorylation of the carboxyl-terminal tail and association with various adaptor proteins. The downstream signaling is mediated by two signaling pathways: the Ras-Raf mitogenactivated kinases (ERK1 and ERK2) and the phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase/AKT pathway.^{172,173} Besides the EGF, other ligands are also available for the EGF receptor, to induce kinase signaling. The receptor—ligand binding interactions and affinities for the ligands and their modified forms will have an impact on the affinity for the receptor.¹⁷⁴ The subsequent pathway signaling is depicted in Figure 5.

Mann's group has in a number of papers presented the ability to follow the signaling mechanism, which includes phosphorylation mechanisms when ligand—receptor binding occurs.^{51,175} A number of protein expression papers have recently been published on the regulatory role of EGFR and its role in lung cancer.^{155,176–179}

7.3. Epidermal Growth Factor and Drug Treatment

There has been an early indication of somatic mutation appearances of EGFR and an increased frequency, especially in Asia.¹⁴⁷ The EGF mutation opened up for a new molecular mechanism of targets, to be designed with specific inhibitory



Figure 6. IRESSA clinical analysis process.

drugs that seemed to work better with mutations within the EGF receptor. Since the epidermal growth factor receptor is associated with resistance to chemotherapy as well as radiation therapy, novel drugs such as Gefitinib and Erlotinib have been developed as specific EGFR-TKIs, with good efficacy and fewer side effects. This has also been presented recently to be the situation in Europe.¹⁸⁰ Biopharmaceuticals such as monoclonal antibodies are also becoming more important in health care treatment.

Both Gefitinib and Erlotinib have been shown to confer hypersensitivity on patients with somatic mutations in the epidermal growth factor receptor.^{180,181} A Biomarker test for the EGFR mutation in cancer patients is available. This may predict who will respond to tyrosinase kinase inhibitors. These changes in protein sequences have also been investigated where the correlation of biomarker and clinical benefit has been identified.^{158,182,183} Protein biomarker studies have also been conducted in order to provide biomarkers to be used for drug safety.¹⁵⁷ The shotgun sequencing platform was applied within this CASE/CONTROL study in a Japanese study with close to 4,000 patients^{155,179} where interstitial lung disease was investigated upon Gefitinib administration.^{184–186} The Japanese CASE/CONTROL study was run with 52 clinical centers throughout Japan (Figure 6). This probably makes it the biggest clinical biomarker discovery study ever undertaken within the industry with drug treatment that has been performed with the objective to discover novel biomarkers, to be used upon drug treatment.

This clinical study and sample processing are similar in nature to several other biomarker studies that have been published. An additional Gefitinib efficacy study was conducted: the "IPASS" study.^{147,187} Within the study 1,217 NSCLC patients were enrolled. Part of this adenocarcinoma cohort has been enrolled for biomarker discovery with

Japanese patients alone.¹⁴⁷ Through the experience of the biomarker discovery study, methods were developed to stabilize variances using quality control of LC-MS measurement within the large-scale process conducted. Targeted protein markers was reported on, providing evidence for mode-of-drug-action by Gefitinib, exploring possible kinase signaling partners within the EGF pathway.¹⁷⁹ Rikova et al. provided evidence of Gefitinib mechanisms by identifying the tyrosine kinases that drive the disease and localizing the phosphorylation stoichiometry.¹⁸⁸

Signaling by phosphotyrosines was identified within 150 NSCLC tumors and 41 NSCLC cell lines. The signaling mechanisms of EGFR, by c-Met, and other novel findings such as ALK, ROS fusion proteins, and activated tyrosine kinases such as PDGFRa and DDR were identified. PDGFRa and DDR have not previously been linked to the genesis of NSCLC, and these findings were the first on a large scale that provided evidence of tyrosine kinase activity linked to phosphorus speciation of over 50 various tyrosines and >2,500 downstream substrates.

The effects of cigarette smoke on the patient airway compartments have been studied by Spira et al.¹⁸⁹ Epithelial cells were investigated in this clinical study with 93 subjects. The transcriptome identified a number of biomarker candidates that have been the major focus of discussion for the screening of clinical samples at the protein level. A follow up study was made recently where Spira's group focused on how to determine which changes in gene expression are and are not reversible when smoking is discontinued. In addition, these reports have had a major impact on the field in order to search for diagnostic evaluators and candidates that can explore the normal biology of specific isolated human epithelial cells within a complex organ across a broad spectrum of health and to define the reversible and irreversible

ible genetic effects of cigarette smoke,¹⁹⁰ airway epithelial gene expression in the diagnostic evaluation of smokers with suspect lung cancer.

Drug effects and mode of drug actions are fundamental in successful drug developments. In this respect, a number of EGFR-signaling tyrosine kinase inhibitors are globally used within the cancer field. The efficacy has been especially good within lung cancer and those patients with somatic mutations in the EGFR.^{156,191} Gefitinib treated patients have been studied in very large patient cohorts in several studies in Asia,^{147,157} the USA,^{191–193} and Europe.¹⁸⁰ Biomarker studies have been undertaken in the Asian studies, the CASE/ CONTROL study that was conducted in Japan, and the IPASS study that was run in several Asian countries. The CASE/CONTROL was probably the largest study ever performed, and it included the discovery of genetic¹⁸³ and protein biomarkers upon drug treatment.^{157,179,184} The study was outlined so that biomarker regulations could be followed over the treatment period. Clinical diagnosis and blood sampling of patients were made both before and after drug administration. Patients who had progressed tumor development were treated with Gefitinib doses of 200 mg, daily.

It was made obvious at an early stage that the overexpression of EGFR in lung cancer and the signaling mechanisms were key molecular phosphorylation occurrences of central importance.¹⁹⁴ The EGF pathway kinases play an important role in lung cancer, where ErbB1 and its mechanistic role upon Gefitinib treatment were investigated. Computational modeling was applied, and a central role of the ErbB family proteins was predicted. The Erb protein members and the signaling interactions were outlined, and a hypothesis was presented at an early stage.¹⁹⁵ This is an example of collaborative efforts, where clinicians, protein scientists, and computational biologists identified central areas of disease pathology at a molecular level. Initially, a theoretical pathway model was developed that later was followed up by experimental wet laboratory assays.¹⁹⁶ During this period of scientific interactions, it became obvious that the EGF signaling also had a role in the protein kinase C mechanisms that were linked to cancer cell recruitments.¹⁹⁷ These studies were later followed up with findings made in the previous developments.¹⁹⁸ All of these pathway mapping biology elucidations were made in collaboration between Academia and the Pharma industry to understand the mechanisms involved in EGF signaling after Gefitinib drug treatments. As there was evidence of the somatic mutations of the EGF receptor and the role that it would have on patient response, as well as side effects,¹⁸¹ this made it a major research area of interest. These specific findings became evident in order to try to find the signaling pathway alteration in EGFR mutated patients. The EGF signaling protein phosphorylation identities that Mann's group published around this time period were an important addition to the ongoing clinical analysis work at the time, and all of these data were generated by front line LC-tandem mass spectrometry instrumentation at that time.12,175

Lauffenberg's group, who had been involved in these developments, also came up with a targeted MRM assay that quantitatively could determine some of the interesting EGFR signaling network.¹⁹⁹ The MRM assays were directed toward the high-resolution temporal dynamics of the phosphorylation stoichiometry of selected nodes within the network. To undertake the study required the *a priori* knowledge of the

proteins and phosphorylation sites that was previously outlined by the group.¹⁹⁹

These quantitative LC-MS data showed that the phosphorylation of c-Cbl at position pY552 and of MARVEL D2 at position pY23 reached a maximal phosphorylation within 2 min after EGF stimulation. The kinetic investigation showed that ERK1 at position pY204 reached a phosphorylation maximum between 4 and 5 min and that the pY1148 position of EGFR increased quickly within a minute and then plateaued within 8 min of stimulation.

There are some concerns with lung cancer therapy, using Gefitinib or Erlotinib drugs. For some patients, the resistance to Gefitinib treatment in late stage lung cancer was observed and studied in some detail.^{200,201} A target protein that was regulated in these studies was the Epithelial membrane protein-1, also classified as a biomarker for Gefitinib resistance.¹⁷⁸ Extension of patient survival, another indication of treatment, has been presented by association of biomarker candidates, with survival in lung adenocarcinoma.²⁰²

Initially, drug treatment was showing good efficacy; eventually these patients develop drug resistance. It was observed that the resistance coincides with mutations in the EGF-receptor or as changes observed in some specific proteins.²⁰³ About half of the cases resulted in a second site point mutation. This mutation appeared in the kinase domain of EGFR, where methionine will be substituted for threonine at position 790. Consequently, the positional role of threonine 790 was to act as the "gate keeping residue" in the EGF receptor. Within the 3D structure, the location was shown in the near vicinity of the entrance to a hydrophobic pocket in the ATP binding cleft.

Other studies which address the effect of kinase inhibitors targets, such as the MAPK inhibitors, were recently presented.²⁰⁴ They found in this study that, out of the thousands of phosphopeptides quantified in the study, <10% had a response pattern indicative of the targets. The impact of pathway biology and chemical proteomics techniques for translational research in patient tissue was presented in a study where the mechanistic insights in the EGFR signaling were presented.²⁰⁵ In addition, other groups have also presented mechanistic data on protein signaling networks and the phosphorylation dynamics within the EGF pathway.^{51,206–208}

7.4. Additional Studies on Lung Cancer

Formalin-fixed paraffin-embedded tissue (FFPE) studies have lately been accessed extensively for protein expression studies.^{28,29,204,209,210} The purpose of these studies is to make use of archived material, where clinical records from patients are available, and subsequent pathophysiology correlations and learnings can be made.^{211,212} Nishimura's group presents a retrospective global proteomic study with the aim to identify biomarkers for drug treated adenocarcinoma grading in tissue,²¹³ similar to a pulmonary shotgun sequencing study.²¹⁴

Patient samples from grade I with primary lung lesions and grade III with spreading to the lymph nodes were chosen as tissue subjects for the biomarker discovery investigation. They used laser-microdissection as a sample isolation technique, with the FFPE material, isolating approximately 30,000 cells. Dedicated sample solubilization protocols were applied, that including stepwise organic solvent preparations, using both xylene and ethanol. This study was aimed at identifying biomarkers that could be used to grade the patient tumor tissues, with a comparative analysis to classical histology staining and grading. The statistically significant biomarker candidates from grade I lesions were as follows: carcino-embryonic antigen-related cell adhesion molecules, Napsin-A, S100-A9, and the anterior gradient protein 2 homologue (hAG-2). These candidates were found to be useful for IA and IIIA patients. A follow up study was made with a MRM assay for quantitative determination of six biomarker candidates.²¹⁵ These studies present biomarker applicability where the prediction of long-term survivors could be made with access to information concerning diagnosis and clinical outcome. As an extension to these developments, the group has presented preliminary data on the grading of lung cancer patients where similar expression maps are identifying NSCLC, small cell lung cancer (SCLC), and neuroendocrine lung cancer (LCNEC).²¹⁶

Another FFPE biomarker study with 34 patients with advanced adenocarcinomas that underwent neoadjuvant chemotherapy over a three-year period was presented. These patients were treated with cisplatin, in combination with folinic acid and 5-fluorouracil.²¹⁶ This study had data available from PET imaging, made 1 week before the start of chemotherapy, and could be used as a complementary biomarker correlation supplement. The associated proteins discovered were as follows: heatshock protein (HSP) 27, HSP60, glucose-regulated protein (GRP) 94, GRP78, and a number of cytoskeletal proteins whose pretherapeutic abundance was significantly different with P < 0.001. Rikova et al. identified by LC-MS extensive mutations in receptor tyrosine kinases (Met, ALK, DDR1, ROS, VEGFR-2, IGF1R, PDGFRa, EGFR, and Axl) and nonreceptor tyrosine kinases (FAK, LYN, FYN, HCK, FRK, and BRK) in the tissue study.¹⁸⁸

One objective was to map the drug responses and activation mechanisms with Imatinib (GLEEVEC) and the EGFR inhibitor Gefitinib.¹⁸⁸ In more detail, the Ser473 position in Akt could be blocked by Imatinib but not by Gefitinib. An almost complete inhibition of PDGFR was reached at 100 nM levels of the drug. Another interesting outcome was that the drug effects on p44/42MAPK phosphorylation were found to be weak.

8. Absolute Quantitation of Proteins

8.1. Assay Principles

Quantitative analysis of single or multiple proteins (multiplex) using LC-MS technology in the SRM/MRM mode, an attractive direction, has gained extensive attention recently.²¹⁷ The SRM/MRM mass spectrometry principle has been used extensively in the past²¹⁸⁻²²⁰ and was showing impressive power for small molecules,²²¹⁻²²³ where triple quadrupole instruments were developed as the real "high capacity and qualitative work horses" in laboratories around the world.^{224–227} This was especially recognized within the pharma industry,²²³ where drug compounds and metabolites were quantified, in the discovery and developments of new drug entities. This became a standard in the pharma industry in the 1990s, where the FDA was welcoming these developments ensuring high quality data from both animal studies and also the translation into human clinical trials. It's not an understatement to add that the mass spectrometry developments in terms of instrument numbers, MS technology developments, and progress to the state and performance

of today can be linked back to these early developments of SRM/MRM.

As a consequence of these successes, Barr et al. first proved the applicability for protein quantitation in an attempt to develop complementary methodologies to immunoassays, introducing the apolipoprotein A1 assay.²¹⁸ In 2001, Stemmann et al. continued building on this strategy to quantify separase, a mitosis-regulating protein, in HeLa cell extracts.²²⁸ By using pairs of unphosphorylated/phosphorylated isotope-labeled peptides, they showed that separase was totally phosphorylated at its inhibitory site when cells were pharmacologically arrested in metaphase. This development opened up for phospho-stoiciometry studies, that are key areas in the disease understanding of kinase signaling, as well as drug development for drugs targeted toward kinases.²²⁹ A couple of years later, Gerber et al. applied this strategy, under the acronym AQUA, for "absolute quantification", to quantitatively determine the cell cycle-dependent phosphorylations of human separase.²³⁰ This acronym has become the trade name under which this strategy came to be known to the proteomic community.

Absolute quantification methods for the analysis of large polypeptides, or small proteins (MW > 15 kDa), which rely on isotopic dilution, require an initial analysis (experimental or predictive) to identify signature peptide(s) for each target protein(s). These signatures, or so-called "proteotypic" peptides, are distinguished by their sequence uniqueness in the context of a specific (predicted) proteome and their detection using LC-MS platforms.²³¹ Second, an internal standardization is performed with stable isotope-labeled analogs of these proteotypic peptides which are spiked into the samples by known amounts, before the LC-MS analysis.

Similarly, Beynon et al. presented an alternative priciple, where they designed and constructed artificial gene encoding "concatenation" of tryptic peptides (QCAT protein).²³² These synthetic peptides of concatamer proteins provide the ability to quantify up to 100 proteins in a single construct.

Absolute quantification of "heteroatom-tagged" proteins, e.g., metalloproteinases, can be accomplished, thanks to different isotope dilution standards. In these cases, heteroatoms with altered isotopic abundances have been reported on,²³³ as well as heteroatom isotope-labeled peptides²³⁴ or proteins.²³⁵

SMR and MRM technology, which are two abbreviations of the same MS-principle, is a mass spectrometric scan type with the highest duty cycle that can monitor one or more specific ion transition(s) at high sensitivity. The MRM/SRM mass spectrometry technique identifies and quantifies specific peptides within digested samples that are complex mixtures. MRM/SRM offers high sensitivity and speed, which is a future requirement for high throughput screening of clinical samples for candidate biomarkers within the clinical study area.

These assays use electrospray ionization followed by two stages of mass selection. Typically, the modern triple quadrupole and hybrid ion trap instruments are capable of measuring many such transitions in a single experiment, and this technique is hence referred to as multiple reaction monitoring, during which only specified transitions will be made from precursor to product ions.^{6,236–239} At the initial step of the analysis, the peptides have been introduced into the ion source and ionized, and these "precursors" are selected, based on their respective mass-to-charge ratio (m/z) by the first mass filter quadrupole 1 (Q1 is not



Figure 7. MRM quantitation protein platform and the process steps.

scanning) for further processing. In the next step, the selected precursor ion is fragmented by collision-induced dissociation in quadrupole 2 (Q2), where the collision energy is set to produce the optimal diagnostic charged fragment of the parent ion. Finally, quadrupole 3 (Q3) is set to the specific m/z of that generated fragment, as the product ion is now being transferred through the second mass filter Q3. Only ions with a given exact transition will be detected. In this step, selective detection is made on one or a number of fragment ions that will have specified mass-to-charge ratios.^{240,241} The advantage of the MRM mass spectrometry methodology principle is that it offers a high selectivity with long dwelling times given by the nonscanning nature.

8.2. Assay Design

Historically, MRM has been used to quantify small molecules, such as drug metabolites, but the same principle can be applied to peptides,²¹⁹ either endogenous moieties or those produced from enzymatic digestion of proteins²¹⁸ and their post-translational modifications.²⁴² When it is combined with the appropriate stable isotope-labeled internal standards, the MRM approach provides absolute quantitation of the analyte concentration.^{218,242,243} Technological advances now permit multiplexing of biomarker candidates to accurately measure peptide levels in a range of fluid and tissue samples.⁶⁶

Establishing MRM assays builds on the use of one or several target peptides for each protein within the assay. Upon digestion, the resulting enzymatic products or the endogenous peptides will be determined by LC-MS, where the respective isotope labeled synthetic peptide will be added as an internal standard. The time intensive part is to identify the target peptides of the assay. Many groups have been developing tools that help in the process of making these optimizations by picking out the most sensitive peptides within the protein sequence. The difficulties, pitfalls, and solutions have been presented by several groups, providing important recommendations and guidance in the development of MRM assays and platforms (Figure 7). In addition, one of the challenges brought forward is that more than one protein can serve as the precursors of a single peptide; depending on the peptide(s) selected, this would result in the protein levels possibly being significantly under- or overestimated.^{244,245}

8.3. In Silico Processing

An *in silico* methodology can be used in the selection process,^{246,247} followed by blast searching in protein databases where identified proteins in biological samples can verify the utility of target peptides, identified as candidates. Since this is a time-consuming part of the assay development, precursors and the *m*/*z* of the products are key to identify at an early stage. Tools to be use for these steps for rapid optimization of MRM-MS instrumentation were presented recently.²⁴⁸ Peptide libraries are very useful in order to funnel the large number of peptide candidates in the *in silico* processing step that helps to make judgments of the most useful candidates for the assay.²⁴⁹

Additional tools have been developed, such as MRM software such as the "MRMer", for management of the data generated in highly complex MRM-MS experiments. The "MRMer" is an open source product with an interactive software platform that can handle quantitative analyses with heavy/light isotopic peptide pairs. Extraction is made from the data generated in the experiments and infers precursor—product ion transition pairings and computes integrated ion intensities. The ability of rapid visual inspection, which can exceed 1,000 precursor—product pairs, makes it a useful tool to process large data sets from study samples.²⁴¹

Further software tools have been presented, with algorithms for MRM assay, to predict calculated presentations of spectral counts of the most representative fragment ions in the experiment, for each target peptide of high importance.^{213,216,248,250–251} New ways to identifying target precur-

sors from full-range MS2 spectra were developed, using the multiple products monitoring (MpM) methodology. MpM was built on a methodology that made use of a scoring system, which considers both the absolute intensities of product ions and the similarities between the query MS2 spectrum and the reference MS2 spectrum of the target peptide. In a recent report, it was concluded from a 48 protein mixture assay that great improvements in sensitivity and selectivity of peptide quantification, using an ion-trap mass spectrometer, could be achieved.²⁵²

Another way to identify targeted peptides for MRM assay development is the unique mass spectrometry Ion Signatures (UIS) methodology. UIS uses MS/MS spectra, which are based on data and information content, that previously have been collected by proteomics technologies. The peptide identification method captures unique mass spectrometry Ion Signatures that allow the assignment of the peptide identity.²⁵³

A recent web-based system has also been presented that facilitates the design of MRM transitions.²⁵⁴ Walsh et al. presented a data repository driven approach, the Global Proteome Machine database (GPMDB) for MRM assay developments.²⁵⁵ The GBMDB holds approximately 70,000,000 peptide tandem mass spectra. The newly developed worksheet for the design of MRM assay transitions can be found at http://gpmdb.thegpm.org. Furthermore, the current version of the "Peptide Atlas" developed by Aebersold's group holds tens of thousands of peptides from human and various species (http://www.peptideatlas.org/). It is indeed a very useful resource that is essential for target selection upon developing MRM-assays and other protein biomarker workflows. This database is publicly accessible and holds a library of peptides identified in many tandem mass spectrometry proteomics studies.²⁵⁶

In another report, a human cancer-specific peptide library with 9,677 peptides (p < 0.001), that makes up approximately 1,572 proteins from human breast cancer using linear ion trap instrumentation, was presented.²⁴⁹ An additional improvement in this peptide library construction was the use of 2-dimensional liquid chromatography, utilizing both an electrostatic mechanism by cation exchange and hydrophobic portioning, by reversed-phase separation in the second dimension.²⁴⁹

One initiative as a response to the shortcoming within the area of the new versatile disease proteome database was the launch of the "BiomarkerDigger" database (http:// biomarkerdigger.org).²⁵⁷ This new system contains data from cancer biomarkers identification in plasma, as well as other biosources, and also a survey of biological studies. It is also possible to make an expression analysis survey, with the identification of patterns and expression distributions using KO pathways, GO terms, protein homology domains, and tissue expression patterns.

8.4. Isotope Labeled Internal Standard Peptides

The synthesis of chemically stable isotope-labeled peptides that are used for MS-based absolute quantification of proteins is the preferred methodology that most groups use in the multiplex assay developments with MRM platforms. The "AQUA" peptide concept is well-known, with high quality chemically stable isotope-labeled peptides with purities of >95%. The concept of chemically stable isotope-labeled peptides for absolute quantitation builds on a generic principle. The AQUA peptides are used as internal standards, where known concentrations are spiked into biological samples. As ¹³C or ¹⁵N isotopes are built into the amino acids of the synthetic peptide, the chemical and physical properties of these internal standards will be close to identical to the sequence of the endogenous protein targets.

The isotope labeled internal standard methodology has been combined with immunoaffinity techniques, to give the "SISCAPA" methodology.²⁵⁸ Physiology levels of hemopexin, α -1-antichymotrypsin, interleukin-6, and tumor necrosis factor- α were determined. Somewhat later, a follow up to the SISCAPA technology was presented, where 53 high and medium abundance proteins in human plasma were quantified.²⁵⁹ CVs ranging between 2 and 22% could be generated with this approach.

An alternative to this approach utilizes *in vitro*-synthesized isotope-labeled full-length proteins as standards for absolute quantification.²⁶⁰ This approach allows the standard addition of the protein to be made to the sample, whereby the digestion step is also included in the processing within the methodology. That will offer a more accurate solution for bioanalytical quantitation, since the isotope-labeled full-length proteins used as the internal standards will be following the exact same conditions as the endogenous biomarkers. This is not the case using the isotope labeled peptides. The current protocols were applied to urine samples that were contaminated with *Staphylococcus aureus* superantigenic toxins as typical biomarkers of public health interest and to their absolute quantification.

Besides the isotope labeled peptide-based quantification of proteins, a newly developed approach for robust quantitation of glycans, the isotopic detection of aminosugars with glutamine (IDAWG), is worth mentioning as useful for comparative glycomic studies in cell cultures.²⁶¹ The technique is principally similar to SILAC, incorporating differential mass tags into the glycans in the presence of amide-¹⁵*N*-glutamine, presenting further information about the isotopically heavy monosaccharides to the interpretation of glycan fragmentation and quantification.²⁶¹

8.5. Bioanalytical Assays for Candidate Biomarker Validation

After global expression analysis studies, the follow up step is to evaluate those proteins that have been discovered to have high significance in differential expressions, typically between the control group and the patient group. These transition developments, moving from biomarker discovery to clinical validation, were recently presented.^{262,263}

A targeted approach utilizing multiple reaction monitoring is recently the preferable choice. Within MRM assays, the triple quadrupole mass spec-based technique enables researchers to simultaneously analyze a high number of proteins of interest with absolute quantitation. In a paper, Anderson et al. showed that about 50 proteins could be monitored at the same time using an MRM assay.⁶ Mass spectrometry-based MRM assays may serve as a good intermediate step to push proteomic biomarkers beyond the discovery phase and into the validation phase. Immunoassaybased validation approaches, such as antibody arrays and ELISA tests, are relatively easy to perform, but they are expensive and may take a long time to develop, especially if antibodies for the candidate biomarkers are not immediately available.²⁶⁴

MRM delivers a unique signal that can be monitored and quantified in the midst of a very complicated matrix. The mass spectra plots are simple, usually containing only a single peak for each MRM. This characteristic makes the assay especially suitable for sensitive and specific quantitation. Recently, absolute quantification by MRM detection was developed for selected MFGM proteins using stable isotope dilution to provide health benefits of two MFGM-enriched future nutritional applications.^{265,266}

The advantage of performing large-scale protein expression studies using tandem mass spectrometry is the ability to build a database on annotated potential biomarker sequences. This becomes very handy when specific biomarker studies are being designed, allowing an *in silico* prediction to be blast searched within the database where all previously identified biological samples containing proteins are available. Maed et al. just recently provided a useful software tool where the specificity of a precursor and its transitions is predicted.²⁵⁴ The prediction of the signal intensity of the resulting peptides and fragmentation patterns is a challenging process step in MRM assay designs. In addition, a collection was made of published SRM transitions which provides functionalities such as searching and submitting new entries. In comparison to the databases we have today, many species are being covered, providing useful interfaces for users to investigate new SRM transitions. These SRM transitions were recently compiled into the "MRMaid-DB".²⁶⁷

8.6. The MRM Technology Platform of Biomarkers

Protein biomarkers are identified as differentially expressed in clinical samples; comparing for instance the clinical status of disease and health, there is a follow up step of validations that is highly important. MRM seems to be a very good choice to make these validations, whereby a list of biomarkers can be processed and quantitatively verified in clinical samples.^{236,253,268}

By utilizing stable isotope standards with a sample preparation step (fractionation or antibody-capture), MRM platforms are becoming a complementary protein assay technology to ELISA and other antibody based assay techniques. A multitude of research groups in laboratories globally is picking up on the developments and utility of MRM platforms and assays. The relative ease of multifold reagent (stable isotope peptide) procurement is an attractive feature for MRM assays when compared with ELISAs.²⁶⁹ Comparative studies have pointed out that isotope dilution together with the MRM methodology could provide more detailed information about molecular forms of circulating biomarkers than the routinely used ELISA or chemically nonspecific point-of-care tests.²⁷⁰ Most of the MRM assays developed for absolute quantitations make use of a digestion step followed by spiking of isotope labeled heavy peptides.²⁷¹ An additional advantage, using MRM in relation, is that specific biomarker MS/MS fragments and sequence information are governed by the mass spectrometer, which is not the case with ELISA. Quantitation, based upon these fragment ions, is also an added advantage that links the specificity of the biomarker with the concentration calculations. ELISA techniques do not offer these features; rather, the epitope binding specificity, when performing at its best, circumvents unspecific binding.

The standards used in ELISA assays are generally recombinant proteins. Producing high quality recombinant protein standards along with the antibodies of the ELISA is far more expensive and time-consuming in comparison to MRM requirements.²⁶⁴ One of the big advantages with MRM assays is the multiplexing capability. It allows large panels of protein measurements to be made in a single pass. This ability, as well as the generic concept of the technology, is that in principle any protein that can become an analyte within the assay is far superior to the ELISA-based assays of today.

In SRM or MRM assays, a series of transitions are made with target peptides that are the precursors being ionized after LC-separation and interfacing to MS. These precursor ions are then fragmented ion pairs. A multitude of peptides are quantified during a single LC-MS experiment. There seems to be a multiplex number around 50 that is preferred by many groups working on MRM assays.^{117,272} One of the first reports presented the opportunities as well as the challenges by applying a 53-multiplex assay with high and medium abundant proteins in human plasma.²⁵⁹ Most targeted multiplex assays developed have utilized the early experiences from Anderson and his group.^{6,44}

8.7. MRM Applications

Looking back to decades of biological mass spectrometry and the recent decade with proteomics studies, it is obvious that all the generated protein sequence data, compiled and built within databases, is a great resource.^{273–275} These experimental reports provide in many instances not only sequences of importance but also, in numerous cases, quantitative information regarding specific biology of clinical relevance and interest. These clinical analysis data have been generated both within academia, where they are made public, and within the pharma and biotech industries, where they are kept within the firewall of these companies. Nonetheless, the value of all this information, also highlighted by HUPO in the standardization program, Proteomics Standards Initiative (http://www.HUPO.org/research/psi/), is a strong basis for MRM/SRM assay developments.

MRM assay developments have been proven to be a highly useful technology principle for clinical protein and peptide analysis. In recent years, there has been a constant increase in reports on the assay developments that can be made by MRM platforms. They offer robust and reliable quantitations of proteins and peptides with good accuracy and precision. MRM applications are currently the fastest growing targeted protein analysis area, with multiplex assays for absolute quantitation in clinical disease areas. The cardiovascular area²⁷⁶ is, besides cancer,²⁷⁷ the most challenging disease area worldwide for the health care system to handle at present, as well as in this new decade.

The cardiovascular effect of symptomatic hypertrophic obstructive cardiomyopathy was investigated in a study where Troponin I, Troponin T, IL-33, CRP, BNP-32, MRP14, NT-proBNP, and MPO levels were quantified in the nanogram per milliliter regions in blood samples.²⁷⁶ Multidimensional separations were applied, combining electrostatic and reversed phase separation mechanisms. The MRM technology is able to quantify proteins down to low nanogram levels and higher concentration regions, which means high and medium abundant, and upper low abundant areas. These are the applicable expression regions for proteins of interest. Importantly, the precision as well as stability of these platforms needs to be met for practical use. The report demonstrated limits of CVs of 10-20% in the 1-20 pg/mL (LOQ) range in plasma.²⁷⁸ Another group presented recent data on quantitation of cardiac plasma biomarkers at 2-25

ng/mL concentrations. The intra- and interassay coefficients of variation were predominantly <10% and 25%, respectively.²⁷⁶

By the use of uniformly ¹⁵N-labeled blood plasma, levels of 100 ng/mL calreticulin could be quantified. The accurate inclusion mass screening (AIMS) methodology was used that made it possible to build a targeted assay, from data generated from an unbiased discovery study.²⁷⁹ An additional fractionation step was included using strong cation exchange separations of digested plasma samples to reach these levels.

A first report came out very recently where a magnetic bead-based immunoaffinity sample preparation method could reach relevant medium abundant concentration levels at nanogram per milliliter sensitivities. By automation of the peptide antibody capturing process step, high throughput capacities were reached with low statistical variations (median CV 12.6%) for quantifying biomarkers using only 10 μ L of plasma. Interestingly, by increasing the sample volumes to 1 mL, an improvement of the detection to the low picogram per milliliter range was reached.²⁶⁴

Still, the low abundant region, i.e., picogram per milliliter, with proteins with a few copies per cell, such as interleukins, chemokines, and other growth factors, is still better analyzed by ELISAs.⁴³ In order to improve the LOQ-limits even further using current MRM technology platforms, one way forward would be to increase the sample volumes. This will require a sample preparation methodology, which is able to enrich larger sample volumes and to elute into an enriched and smaller sample volume, ready for analysis.

A recent paper by Kuzyk et al. presented a MRM-assay with 45 plasma proteins and absolute quantitation.²⁷² The assay development presented makes a selection of clinically interesting markers and develops an assay that has a fast development time and is generic in its choice of candidate proteins. The multiplex protein assay was chosen to optimize the usability of these proteins. The plasma protein expression profiling of 31 out of the 45 selected proteins shows wellknown biomarkers of cardiovascular disease. Aebersold's group worked out a survey of MRM methodologies, to cover a full dynamic range, being able to measure high, medium, and low abundant regions of protein expression, as low as 40 protein copies/cell level defined in a yeast system.^{276,280} Interestingly, this group could achieve signal amplification by fractionation, resulting in a 10-fold sensitivity improvement. The group reports an average maximum signal gain of a factor 80. The fractionation was achieved by a tryptic digest using isoelectric focusing.²⁸¹ This study could demonstrate that expression of proteins at a single-digit number of copies/cell can be detected by SRM coupled to a simple, fast, and predictable sample fractionation step. More than 1,500 yeast proteins, including complete cellular pathways, are processed during a 1 h assay run.²⁸⁰ Additional studies have presented applicational approaches. Kuster et al. reported on an MRM protocol where, for each protein, five proteotypic peptides (unique peptides preferentially detectable by MS [PTPs]^{282,283}) were selected. PTPs were derived by screening a large yeast proteomic data repository, PeptideAtlas (>36,000 unique peptides observed in an array of shotgun proteomic experiments²⁸⁴) for the most frequently observed peptides for each target protein. For proteins for which fewer than five PTPs could be extracted from PeptideAtlas, additional peptides with favorable MS properties were derived by bioinformatic prediction using the tool PeptideSieve.231,216

Addona et al. presented data made from a multisite study, where the assessment, precision, and reproducibility of MRM-based analysis of proteins in plasma was demonstrated. This study presented a good correlation between respective laboratories and is a landmark of MRM-multiplex assays in clinical biofluids. The assay and methodology transfer are key elements in future successes and developments within the multiplex assay to be extensively used in clinical analysis. This multilaboratory study provided comparisons on reproducibility, recovery, linear dynamic range, and limits of detection and quantification of multiplexed, MRM-based assays. The study was conducted by the NCI Clinical Proteomic Technology Assessment for Cancer initiative (NCI-CPTAC). Information on the initiative of the National Cancer Institute can be found at http://proteomics. cancer.gov/programs/CPTAC/. The new initiative provides data on applying new technologies for biomarker verification in plasma.285

Prostate cancer is another major disease problem for men throughout the world. The prostate specific antigen (PSA) is a biomarker that is used in many countries as a routine clinical measure. Its increased level indicates a potential problem of early onset stages of prostate cancer. There are a number of ELISA test kits that are used in everyday diagnosis.^{286,287} However, a number of shortcomings remain regarding the PSA variants that are being measured in an ELISA, which is the reason why developments of new assays are of mandatory importance.²⁸⁸ Sample preparation of blood samples is key in assay development.^{280,289} Quantitation was achieved by an MS3 fragment using a Q-TRAP instrument.²⁴³ Furthermore, the isotope dilution mass spectrometry principle was also reported on absolute quantification of PSA in blood serum, achieving good linearity and reproducibility that can pave the way for protein sequence based detection of this biomarker.290

There is a huge unmet need of rapidly increasing elderly patient groups around the world, to get improved treatments for neurodegenerative diseases and brain tumors. Biomarkers for Alzheimer and Parkinson disease are well underway. Ferritin expression in the neurons of the human *substantia nigra pars compacta* from post-mortem human brain tissue was investigated by a MRM tandem mass spectroscopy assay.²⁹¹ The targeted protein Ferritin that is a 24 protein was investigated in relation to its ability to bind Fe(III) atoms and form inorganic complexes.

9. Concluding Remarks and Outlook

It is envisaged that multiplex platforms and assays will gain much attention and that they will become a cornerstone in future clinical science. The ability to screen patient samples with panels of hundreds of protein biomarkers with absolute quantitation provides immense value. The future generation of personalized medicine drugs where the patient will receive the right medicine and/or dose of drug for the specific disease or phenotype by the first visit at the doctor's clinic will drive the entire diagnosis field forward.

As an example, an average ELISA kit cost of \$500 for a 96 well format allows the analysis of 60 samples, if QC samples and calibration samples are added to the plate. With a panel of 50 biomarkers, this will be a substantial cost of \$250,000. As an alternative to immunoassays, using MRM assays, especially for decreasing the number of candidate biomarkers from many tens to a panel of about 10 biomarkers, would be reasonable to deal with during validation. It

is anticipated that bioanalytical developments within the clinical research area will play a major role in the future. Implementation of new platform and technology developments is expected for a future world where the number of patients or consumers will increase and will be an everincreasing elderly population. These are forthcoming global changes that will enforce solutions where clinical protein science with mass spectrometry based technology platforms will have its place.

10. Acknowledgments

This study was supported by a joint grant from the Swedish Research Council, Vinnova, SSF, under the program Biomedical Engineering for Better Health.

11. References

- Halbert, R. J.; Isonaka, S.; George, D.; Iqbal, A. Chest 2003, 123, 1684.
- (2) Nowak, D.; Berger, K.; Lippert, B.; Kilgert, K.; Caeser, M.; Sandtmann, R. Treat. Respir. Med. 2005, 4, 381.
- (3) Boyle, P.; Ferlay, J. Ann. Oncol. 2005, 16, 481.
- (4) Zolg, J. W.; Langen, H. Mol. Cell. Proteomics 2004, 3, 345.
- (5) Fan, R.; Vermesh, O.; Srivastava, A.; Yen, B. K. H.; Qin, L.; Ahmad, H.; Kwong, G. A.; Liu, C. C.; Gould, J.; Hood, L.; Heath, J. R. *Nat. Biotechnol.* **2008**, *26*, 1373.
- (6) Anderson, N. L. Mol. Cell. Proteomics 2005, 4, 1441.
- (7) Végvári, Á.; Magnusson, M.; Wallman, L.; Ekström, S.; Bolmsjö, G.; Nilsson, J.; Miliotis, T.; Östling, J.; Kjellström, S.; Ottervald, J.; Franzén, B.; Hultberg, H.; Marko-Varga, G.; Laurell, T. *Electro-phoresis* **2008**, *29*, 2696.
- (8) Lu, B. W.; Motoyama, A.; Ruse, C.; Venable, J.; Yates, J. R. Anal. Chem. 2008, 80, 2018.
- (9) Hodgson, D. R.; Whittaker, R. D.; Herath, A.; Amakye, D.; Clack, G. *Mol. Oncol.* 2009, *3*, 24.
- (10) Lu, B.; Xu, T.; Park, S. K.; Yates, J. R. Methods Mol. Biol. 2009, 564, 261.
- (11) Mann, M. Nat. Methods 2009, 6, 717.
- (12) Olsen, J. V.; Schwartz, J. C.; Griep-Raming, J.; Nielsen, M. L.; Damoc, E.; Denisov, E.; Lange, O.; Remes, P.; Taylor, D.; Splendore, M.; Wouters, E. R.; Senko, M.; Makarov, A.; Mann, M.; Horning, S. *Mol. Cell. Proteomics* **2009**, *8*, 2759.
- (13) Schmidt, A.; Claassen, M.; Aebersold, R. Curr. Opin. Chem. Biol. 2009, 13, 510.
- (14) Gilchrist, A.; Au, C. E.; Hiding, J.; Bell, A. W.; Fernandez-Rodriguez, J.; Lesimple, S.; Nagaya, H.; Roy, L.; Gosline, S. J. C.; Hallett, M.; Paiement, J.; Kearney, R. E.; Nilsson, T.; Bergeron, J. J. M. *Cell* **2006**, *127*, 1265.
- (15) Cox, J.; Mann, M. Cell 2007, 130, 395.
- (16) Anderson, N. L.; Anderson, N. G. Mol. Cell. Proteomics 2002, 1, 845.
- (17) Domon, B.; Aebersold, R. Science 2006, 312, 212.
- (18) Fenn, J. B.; Mann, M.; Meng, C. K.; Wong, S. F.; Whitehouse, C. M. Science 1989, 246, 64.
- (19) Karas, M.; Bahr, U.; Hillenkamp, F. Int. J. Mass Spectrom. Ion Processes 1989, 92, 231.
- (20) Tanaka, K.; Waki, H.; Ido, Y.; Akita, S.; Yoshida, Y.; Yoshida, T.; Matsuo, T. Rapid Commun. Mass Spectrom. 1088, 2, 151.
- (21) Nicol, G. R.; Han, M.; Kim, J.; Birse, C. E.; Brand, E.; Nguyen, A.; Mesri, M.; FitzHugh, W.; Kaminker, P.; Moore, P. A.; Ruben, S. M.; He, T. *Mol. Cell. Proteomics* **2008**, *7*, 1974.
- (22) Andrejevs, G.; Celis, J. E.; Guidi, G.; Peterle, A.; Sullivan, R.; Wilson, R. *Mol. Oncol.* **2009**, *3*, 18.
- (23) Aebersold, R.; Auffray, C.; Baney, E.; Barillot, E.; Brazma, A.; Brett, C.; Brunak, S.; Butte, A.; Califano, A.; Celis, J.; Cufer, T.; Ferrell, J.; Galas, D.; Gallahan, D.; Gatenby, R.; Goldbeter, A.; Hace, N.; Henney, A.; Hood, L.; Iyengar, R.; Jackson, V.; Kallioniemi, O.; Klingmueller, U.; Kolar, P.; Kolch, W.; Kyriakopoulou, C.; Laplace, F.; Lehrach, H.; Marcus, F.; Matrisian, L.; Nolan, G.; Pelkmans, L.; Potti, A.; Sander, C.; Seljak, M.; Singer, D.; Sorger, P.; Stunnenberg, H.; Superti-Furga, G.; Uhlen, M.; Vidal, M.; Weinstein, J.; Wigle, D.; Williams, M.; Wolkenhauer, O.; Zhivotousky, B.; Zinovyev, A.; Zupan, B. *Mol. Oncol.* 2009, *3*, 9.
- (24) Marko-Varga, G.; Fehniger, T. E. J. Proteome Res. 2004, 3, 167.
- (25) Risch, A.; Plass, C. Int. J. Cancer 2008, 123, 1.

- (26) Turato, G.; Zuin, R.; Miniati, M.; Baraldo, S.; Rea, F.; Beghe, B.; Monti, S.; Formichi, B.; Boschetto, P.; Harari, S.; Papi, A.; Maestrelli, P.; Fabbri, L. M.; Saetta, M. Am. J. Respir. Crit. Care Med. 2002, 166, 105.
- (27) Houghton, A. M.; Mouded, M.; Shapiro, S. D. Nat. Med. (N. Y., NY, U. S) 2008, 14, 1023.
- (28) Negishi, A.; Masuda, M.; Ono, M.; Honda, K.; Shitashige, M.; Satow, R.; Sakuma, T.; Kuwabara, H.; Nakanishi, Y.; Kanai, Y.; Omura, K.; Hirohashi, S.; Yamada, T. *Cancer Sci.* **2009**, *100*, 1605.
- (29) Patel, V.; Hood, B. L.; Molinolo, A.; Lee, N. H.; Conrads, T. P.; Braisted, J. C.; Krizman, D. B.; Veenstra, T. D.; Gutkind, J. S. *Clin. Cancer Res.* **2008**, *14*, 1002.
- (30) Beck, M.; Malmstrom, J. A.; Lange, V.; Schmidt, A.; Deutsch, E. W.; Aebersold, R. *Nat. Methods* **2009**, *6*, 817.
- (31) Chaurand, P.; Cornett, D. S.; Caprioli, R. M. Curr. Opin. Biotechnol. 2006, 17, 431.
- (32) Walch, A.; Rauser, S.; Deininger, S. O.; Hofler, H. *Histochem. Cell Biol.* **2008**, *130*, 421.
- (33) Mange, A.; Chaurand, P.; Perrochia, H.; Roger, P.; Caprioli, R. M.; Solassol, J. J. Proteome Res. 2009, 8, 5619.
- (34) Reyzer, M. L.; Caprioli, R. M. Curr. Opin. Chem. Biol. 2007, 11, 29.
- (35) Végvári, Á.; Fehniger, T. E.; Gustavsson, L.; Nilsson, A.; Andrén, P. E.; Kenne, K.; Nilsson, J.; Laurell, T.; Marko-Varga, G. J. Proteomics 2010, 73, 1270.
- (36) Stoeckli, M.; Staab, D.; Schweitzer, A. Int. J. Mass Spectrom. 2007, 260, 195.
- (37) Delcorte, A.; Garrison, B. J. J. Phys. Chem. B 2003, 107, 2297.
- (38) Scherl, A.; Zimmermann-Ivol, C. G.; Di Dio, J.; Vaezzadehl, A. R.; Binz, P. A.; Amez-Droz, M.; Cochard, R.; Sanchez, J. C.; Gluckmann, M.; Hochstrasser, D. F. *Rapid Commun. Mass Spectrom.* **2005**, *19*, 605.
- (39) Diehnelt, C. W.; Van Stipdonk, M. J.; Schweikert, E. A. Int. J. Mass Spectrom. 2001, 207, 111.
- (40) Wu, K. J.; Odom, R. W. Anal. Chem. 1996, 68, 873.
- (41) Kulp, K. S.; Berman, E. S. F.; Knize, M. G.; Shattuck, D. L.; Nelson, E. J.; Wu, L. G.; Montgomery, J. L.; Felton, J. S.; Wu, K. J. Anal. Chem. 2006, 78, 3651.
- (42) Wu, L. G.; Lu, X. H.; Kulp, K. S.; Knize, M. G.; Berman, E. S. F.; Nelson, E. J.; Felton, J. S.; Wu, K. J. J. Int. J. Mass Spectrom. 2007, 260, 137.
- (43) Hortin, G. L.; Carr, S. A.; Anderson, N. L. Clin. Chem. 2010, 56.
- (44) Anderson, N. L. Clin. Chem. 2010, 56, 177.
- (45) Nesvizhskii, A. I.; Vitek, O.; Aebersold, R. Nat. Methods 2007, 4, 787.
- (46) Malmström, J.; Lee, H.; Aebersold, R. Curr. Opin. Biotechnol. 2007, 18, 378.
- (47) Davis, M. T.; Auger, P. L.; Patterson, S. D. Clin. Chem. 2010, 56, 244.
- (48) Meistermann, H.; Norris, J. L.; Aerni, H. R.; Cornett, D. S.; Friedlein, A.; Erskine, A. R.; Augustin, A.; De Vera Mudry, M. C.; Ruepp, S.; Suter, L.; Langen, H.; Caprioli, R. M.; Ducret, A. *Mol. Cell. Proteomics* **2006**, *5*, 1876.
- (49) Voshol, H.; Ehrat, M.; Traenkle, J.; Bertrand, E.; van Oostrum, J. *FEBS J.* 2009.
- (50) Anderson, L. J. Physiol. 2005, 563, 23.
- (51) Olsen, J. V.; Blagoev, B.; Gnad, F.; Macek, B.; Kumar, C.; Mortensen, P.; Mann, M. Cell 2006, 127, 635.
- (52) Jacobs, P. P.; Callewaert, N. Curr. Mol. Med. 2009, 9, 774.
- (53) Brown, M. A.; Begley, G. S.; Czerwiec, E.; Stenberg, L. M.; Jacobs, M.; Kalume, D. E.; Roepstorff, P.; Stenflo, J.; Furie, B. C.; Furie, B. *Biochemistry* 2005, 44, 9150.
- (54) (a) Cohen, P. Eur. J. Biochem. 2001, 268, 5001. (b) Fujii, K.; Nakamura, S.; Takahashi, K.; Inagaki, F. J. Proteomics 2010, 73, 1196.
- (55) Marko-Varga, G.; Lindberg, H.; Lofdahl, C. G.; Jonsson, P.; Hansson, L.; Dahlback, M.; Lindquist, E.; Johansson, L.; Foster, M.; Fehniger, T. E. J. Proteome Res. 2005, 4, 1200.
- (56) Anderson, N. G. Clin. Chem. 2010, 56, 154.
- (57) Regnier, F. E.; Skates, S. J.; Mesri, M.; Rodriguez, H.; Tezak, Z.; Kondratovich, M. V.; Anlterman, M. A.; Levin, J. D.; Roscoe, D.; Reilly, E.; Callaghan, J.; Kelm, K.; Brown, D.; Philip, R.; Carr, S. A.; Liebler, D. C.; Fisher, S. J.; Tempst, P.; Hiltke, T.; Kessler, L. G.; Kinsinger, C. R.; Ransohoff, D.; Mansfield, E.; Anderson, N. L. *Clin. Chem.* **2010**, *56*, 161.
- (58) Landers, P. The Wall Street Journal 2003, 8.
- (59) Aebersold, R. Nature 2003, 422, 115.
- (60) Andersen, J. S.; Lam, Y. W.; Leung, A. K. L.; Ong, S. E.; Lyon, C. E.; Lamond, A. I.; Mann, M. Nature 2005, 433, 77.
- (61) McDonald, W. H.; Yates, J. R. Curr. Opin. Mol. Ther. 2003, 5, 302.
- (62) Shevchenko, A.; Wilm, M.; Vorm, O.; Mann, M. Anal. Chem. 1996, 68, 850.

- (63) Pieper, R.; Gatlin, C. L.; Makusky, A. J.; Russo, P. S.; Schatz, C. R.; Miller, S. S.; Su, Q.; McGrath, A. M.; Estock, M. A.; Parmar, P. P.; Zhao, M.; Huang, S. T.; Zhou, J.; Wang, F.; Esquer-Blasco, R.; Anderson, N. L.; Taylor, J.; Steiner, S. *Proteomics* 2003, *3*, 1345.
- (64) Anderson, N. G.; Matheson, A.; Anderson, N. L. *Proteomics* 2001, *1*, 3.
- (65) Rodriguez, H.; Snyder, M.; Uhlen, M.; Andrews, P.; Beavis, R.; Borchers, C.; Chalkley, R. J.; Cho, S. Y.; Cottingham, K.; Dunn, M.; Dylag, T.; Edgar, R.; Hare, P.; Heck, A. J. R.; Hirsch, R. F.; Kennedy, K.; Kolar, P.; Kraus, H. J.; Mallick, P.; Nesvizhskii, A.; Ping, P. P.; Ponten, F.; Yang, L. M.; Yates, J. R.; Stein, S. E.; Hermjakob, H.; Kinsinger, C. R.; Apweiler, R. J. Proteome Res. 2009, 8, 3689.
- (66) Anderson, N. L.; Anderson, N. G.; Pearson, T. W.; Borchers, C. H.; Paulovich, A. G.; Patterson, S. D.; Gillette, M.; Aebersold, R.; Carr, S. A. *Mol. Cell. Proteomics* **2009**, *8*, 883.
- (67) Cancer Proteomics: From Bench to Bedside; Humana Press: Totowa, NJ, 2007.
- (68) Renal and Urinary Proteomics: Methods and Protocols; Wiley-VCH: Weinheim, 2009.
- (69) Cardiovascular Proteomics: Methods and Protocols; Humana Press: Totowa, NJ, 2007.
- (70) Neuroproteomics; CRC Press: Boca Raton, FL, 2009.
- (71) Industrial Proteomics: Applications for Biotechnology and Pharmaceuticals; Wiley: Hoboken, NJ, 2005.
- (72) Proteomics and Peptidomics, New Technology Platforms Elucidating Biology; Elsevier B.V.: Amsterdam, 2005.
- (73) Proteomics of Human Body Fluids: Principles, Methods and Applications; Humana Press: Totowa, NJ, 2007.
- (74) Takahashi, N.; Isobe, T. Proteomic Biology Using LC-MS: Large Scale Analysis of Cellular Dynamics and Function; Wiley: Hoboken, NJ, 2007.
- (75) Washburn, M. P.; Wolters, D.; Yates, J. R. Nat. Biotechnol. 2001, 19, 242.
- (76) Fournier, M. L.; Gilmore, J. M.; Martin-Brown, S. A.; Washburn, M. P. Chem. Rev. 2007, 107, 3654.
- (77) Anderson, N. L.; Polanski, M.; Pieper, R.; Gatlin, T.; Tirumalai, R. S.; Conrads, T. P.; Veenstra, T. D.; Adkins, J. N.; Pounds, J. G.; Fagan, R.; Lobley, A. *Mol. Cell. Proteomics* **2004**, *3*, 311.
- (78) Schiffer, E.; Vlahou, A.; Petrolekas, A.; Stravodimos, K.; Tauber, R.; Geschwend, J. E.; Neuhaus, J.; Stolzenburg, J. U.; Conaway, M. R.; Mischak, H.; Theodorescu, D. *Clin. Cancer Res.* **2009**, *15*, 4935.
- (79) Machtejevas, E.; Marko-Varga, G.; Lindberg, C.; Lubda, D.; Hendriks, R.; Unger, K. K. J. Sep. Sci. 2009, 32, 2223.
- (80) Pang, J. X.; Ginanni, N.; Dongre, A. R.; Hefta, S. A.; Opiteck, G. J. J. Proteome Res. 2002, 1, 161.
- (81) Unwin, R. D.; Griffiths, J. R.; Leverentz, M. K.; Grallert, A.; Hagan, I. M.; Whetton, A. D. *Mol. Cell. Proteomics* 2005, *4*, 1134.
- (82) Zanivan, S.; Gnad, F.; Wickstrom, S. A.; Geiger, T.; Macek, B.; Cox, J.; Fassler, R.; Mann, M. J. Proteome Res. 2008, 7, 5314.
- (83) Jung, K. Y.; Cho, W. R.; Regnier, F. E. J. Proteome Res. 2009, 8, 643.
- (84) Kullolli, M.; Hancock, W. S.; Hincapie, M. J. Sep. Sci. 2008, 31, 2733.
- (85) Larsen, M. R.; Thingholm, T. E.; Jensen, O. N.; Roepstorff, P.; Jorgensen, T. J. D. Mol. Cell. Proteomics 2005, 4, 873.
- (86) Pinkse, M. W. H.; Mohammed, S.; Gouw, L. W.; van Breukelen, B.; Vos, H. R.; Heck, A. J. R. J. Proteome Res. 2008, 7, 687.
- (87) Wu, Y. B.; Dai, J.; Yang, X. L.; Li, S. J.; Zhao, S. L.; Sheng, Q. H.; Tang, J. S.; Zheng, G. Y.; Li, Y. X.; Wu, J. R.; Zeng, R. *Mol. Cell. Proteomics* **2009**, 8, 2809.
- (88) Edmiston, J. S.; Flora, J. W.; Scian, M. J.; Li, G. Y.; Rana, G.; Langston, T. B.; Sengupta, T. K.; McKinney, W. J. Anal. Bioanal. *Chem.* **2009**, *394*, 1609.
- (89) Ogata, Y.; Hepplmann, C. J.; Charlesworth, M. C.; Madden, B. J.; Miller, M. N.; Kalli, K. R.; Cilby, W. A.; Bergen, H. R.; Saggese, D. A.; Muddiman, D. C. J. Proteome Res. 2006, 5, 3318.
- (90) Priego-Capote, F.; Scherl, A.; Müller, M.; Waridel, P.; Lisacek, F.; Sanchez, J. C. Mol. Cell. Proteomics 2010, 9, 579.
- (91) Whiteaker, J. R.; Zhang, H. D.; Eng, J. K.; Fang, R. H.; Piening, B. D.; Feng, L. C.; Lorentzen, T. D.; Schoenherr, R. M.; Keane, J. F.; Holzman, T.; Fitzgibbon, M.; Lin, C. W.; Zhang, H.; Cooke, K.; Liu, T.; Camp, D. G.; Anderson, L.; Watts, J.; Smith, R. D.; McIntosh, M. W.; Paulovich, A. G. J. Proteome Res. 2007, 6, 828.
- (92) Hulsmeier, A. J.; Paesold-Burda, P.; Hennet, T. Mol. Cell. Proteomics 2007, 6, 2132.
- (93) Jia, W.; Lu, Z.; Fu, Y.; Wang, H. P.; Wang, L. H.; Chi, H.; Yuan, Z. F.; Zheng, Z. B.; Song, L. N.; Han, H. H.; Liang, Y. M.; Wang, J. L.; Cai, Y.; Zhang, Y. K.; Deng, Y. L.; Ying, W. T.; He, S. M.; Qian, X. H. *Mol. Cell. Proteomics* **2009**, *8*, 913.
- (94) Orchard, S.; Hoogland, C.; Bairoch, A.; Eisenacher, M.; Kraus, H. J.; Binz, P. A. Proteomics 2009, 9, 499.

- (95) Orchard, S.; Montechi-Palazzi, L.; Deutsch, E. W.; Binz, P. A.; Jones, A. R.; Paton, N.; Pizzaro, A.; Creasy, D. M.; Wojcik, J.; Hermjakob, H. *Proteomics* **2007**, *7*, 3436.
- (96) Hawkridge, A. M.; Muddiman, D. C. Annu. Rev. Anal. Chem. 2009, 2, 265.
- (97) Bodenmiller, B.; Mueller, L. N.; Pedrioli, P. G. A.; Pflieger, D.; Junger, M. A.; Eng, J. K.; Aebersold, R.; Tao, W. A. *Mol. BioSyst.* 2007, *3*, 275.
- (98) Price, N. D.; Foltz, G.; Madan, A.; Hood, L.; Tian, Q. J. Cell. Mol. Med. 2008, 12, 97.
- (99) Auffray, C.; Chen, Z.; Hood, L. Genome Med. 2009, 1, 2.
- (100) Schwenk, J. M.; Gry, M.; Rimini, R.; Uhlen, M.; Nilsson, P. J. Proteome Res. 2008, 7, 3168.
- (101) Weissenstein, U.; Schneider, M. J.; Pawlak, M.; Cicenas, J.; Eppenberger-Castori, S.; Oroszlan, P.; Ehret, S.; Geurts-Moespot, A.; Sweep, F.; Eppenberger, U. *Proteomics* **2006**, *6*, 1427.
- (102) Rinn, J. L.; Rozowsky, J. S.; Laurenzi, I. J.; Petersen, P. H.; Zou, K.; Zhong, W.; Gerstei, M.; Snyder, M. Dev. Cell 2004, 6, 791.
- (103) Cho, C. R.; Labow, M.; Reinhardt, M.; van Oostrum, J.; Peitsch, M. C. Curr. Opin. Chem. Biol. 2006, 10, 294.
- (104) Apweiler, R.; Aslanidis, C.; Deufel, T.; Gerstner, A.; Hansen, J.; Hochstrasser, D.; Kellner, R.; Kubicek, M.; Lottspeich, F.; Maser, E.; Mewes, H. W.; Meyer, H. E.; Mullner, S.; Mutter, W.; Neumaier, M.; Nollau, P.; Nothwang, H. G.; Ponten, F.; Radbruch, A.; Reinert, K.; Rothe, G.; Stockinger, H.; Tarnok, A.; Taussig, M. J.; Thiel, A.; Thiery, J.; Ueffing, M.; Valet, G.; Vandekerckhove, J.; Wagener, C.; Wagner, O.; Schmitz, G. *Cytometry A* **2009**, *75*, 816.
- (105) Paavilainen, L.; Edvinsson, A.; Asplund, A.; Hober, S.; Kampf, C.; Ponten, F.; Wester, K. J. Histochem. Cytochem. 2010, 58, 237.
- (106) Pawlak, M.; Schick, E.; Bopp, M. A.; Schneider, M. J.; Oroszlan, P.; Ehrat, M. *Proteomics* **2002**, *2*, 383.
- (107) Hober, S.; Uhlen, M. Curr. Opin. Biotechnol. 2008, 19, 30.
- (108) Pontén, F.; Gry, M.; Fagerberg, L.; Lundberg, E.; Asplund, A.; Berglund, L.; Oksvold, P.; Björkling, E.; Hober, S.; Kampf, C.; Navani, S.; Nilsson, P.; Ottosson, J.; Persson, A.; Wernérus, H.; Wester, K.; Uhlén, M. *Mol. Syst. Biol.* **2009**, *5*, 337.
- (109) Kim, K.; Kim, S. J.; Yu, H. G.; Yu, J.; Park, K. S.; Jang, I. J.; Kim, Y. J. Proteome Res. 2010, 9, 689.
- (110) Makawita, S.; Diamandis, E. P. Clin. Chem. 2010, 56, 212.
- (111) Gstaiger, M.; Aebersold, R. Nat. Rev. Genet. 2009, 10, 617.
- (112) Engvall, E. Clin. Chem. 2010, 56, 319.
- (113) Ackermann, B. L.; Berna, M. J. Expert Rev. Proteomics 2007, 4, 175.
- (114) Hoofnagle, A. N.; Becker, J. O.; Wener, M. H.; Heinecke, J. W. *Clin. Chem.* **2008**, *54*, 1796.
- (115) Hoofnagle, A. N.; Wener, M. H. J. Immunol. Methods 2009, 347, 3.
- (116) Janecki, D. J.; Bemis, K. G.; Tegeler, T. J.; Sanghani, P. C.; Zhai, L.; Hurley, T. D.; Bosron, W. F.; Wang, M. Anal. Biochem. 2007, 369, 18.
- (117) Kuhn, E.; Addona, T.; Keshishian, H.; Burgess, M.; Mani, D. R.; Lee, R. T.; Sabatine, M. S.; Gerszten, R. E.; Carr, S. A. *Clin. Chem.* 2009, 55, 1108.
- (118) Aebersold, R.; Anderson, L.; Caprioli, R.; Druker, B.; Hartwell, L.; Smith, R. J. Proteome Res. 2005, 4, 1104.
- (119) Vitzthum, F.; Behrens, F.; Anderson, N. L.; Shaw, J. H. J. Proteome Res. 2005, 4, 1086.
- (120) Malmström, J.; Lindberg, H.; Lindberg, C.; Bratt, C.; Wieslander, E.; Delander, E. L.; Sarnstrand, B.; Burns, J. S.; Mose-Larsen, P.; Fey, S.; Marko-Varga, G. *Mol. Cell. Proteomics* **2004**, *3*, 466.
- (121) Malmström, J.; Malmström, L.; Marko-Varga, G. J. Organ Dys. 2005, 1, 83.
- (122) Larsen, K.; Tufvesson, E.; Malmstrom, J.; Morgelin, M.; Wildt, M.; Andersson, A.; Lindstrom, A.; Malmstrom, A.; Lofdahl, C. G.; Marko-Varga, G.; Bjermer, L.; Westergren-Thorsson, G. Am. J. Respir. Crit. Care Med. 2004, 170, 1049.
- (123) Malmström, J.; Larsen, K.; Malmström, L.; Tufvesson, E.; Parker, K.; Marchese, J.; Williamson, B.; Hattan, S.; Patterson, D.; Martin, S.; Graber, A.; Juhasz, P.; Westergren-Thorsson, G.; Marko-Varga, G. J. Proteome Res. 2004, 3, 525.
- (124) Sappino, A. P.; Masouye, I.; Saurat, J. H.; Gabbiani, G. Am. J. Pathol. 1990, 137, 585.
- (125) Polanski, M.; Anderson, N. L. Biomarker Insights 2006, 2, 1.
- (126) Weston, A. D.; Hood, L. J. Proteome Res. 2004, 3, 179.
- (127) Lee, B. T.; Liew, L.; Lim, J.; Tan, J. K.; Lee, T. C.; Veladandi, P. S.; Lim, Y. P.; Han, H.; Rajagopal, G.; Anderson, N. L. *Biomarker Insights* **2008**, *3*, 65.
- (128) Thomas, J.; Elsden, D. F.; Partridge, S. M. Nature 1963, 200, 651.
- (129) Akagawa, M.; Suyama, K. Connect. Tissue Res. 2000, 41, 131.
- (130) Ma, S. R.; Lieberman, S.; Turino, G. M.; Lin, Y. Y. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 2003, 100, 12941.
- (131) Ono, M.; Matsubara, J.; Honda, K.; Sakuma, T.; Hashiguchi, T.; Nose, H.; Nakamori, S.; Okusaka, T.; Kosuge, T.; Sata, N.; Nagai, H.; Ioka, T.; Tanaka, S.; Tsuchida, A.; Aoki, T.; Shimahara, M.; Yasunami,

Y.; Itoi, T.; Moriyasu, F.; Negishi, A.; Kuwabara, H.; Shoji, A.; Hirohashi, S.; Yamada, T. *J. Biol. Chem.* **2009**, *284*, 29041.

- (132) Churg, A.; Zay, K.; Shay, S.; Xie, C. S.; Shapiro, S. D.; Hendricks, R.; Wright, J. L. Am. J. Respir. Cell Mol. Biol. 2002, 27, 368.
- (133) Stone, P. J.; Gottlieb, D. J.; Oconnor, G. T.; Ciccolella, D. E.; Breuer, R.; Bryanrhadfi, J.; Shaw, H. A.; Franzblau, C.; Snider, G. L. Am. J. Respir. Crit. Care Med. **1995**, 151, 952.
- (134) Dhami, R.; Gilks, B.; Xie, C. S.; Zay, K.; Wright, J. L.; Churg, A. Am. J. Respir. Cell Mol. Biol. 2000, 22, 244.
- (135) Broberg, P.; Fehniger, T. E.; Marko-Varga, G.; Uebel, S. International Patent WO/ 2005/029090, 2005.
- (136) Broberg, P.; Fehniger, T. E.; Lindberg, C.; Marko-Varga, G.; Uebel, S. International Patent WO/ 2006/101436, 2006.
- (137) Starcher, B. C.; Galione, M. J. Anal. Biochem. 1976, 74, 441.
- (138) Downey, D. G.; Martin, S. L.; Dempster, M.; Moore, J. E.; Keogan, M. T.; Starcher, B.; Edgar, J.; Bilton, D.; Elborn, J. S. *Pediatr. Pulmonol.* 2007, 42, 216.
- (139) Boschetto, P.; Quintavalle, S.; Zeni, E.; Leprotti, S.; Potena, A.; Ballerin, L.; Papi, A.; Palladini, G.; Luisetti, M.; Annovazzi, L.; Iadarola, P.; De Rosa, E.; Fabbri, L. M.; Mapp, C. E. *Thorax* 2006, *61*, 1037.
- (140) Chadha, V.; Garg, U.; Alon, U. S. Pediatr. Nephrol. 2001, 16, 374.
- (141) Cocci, F.; Miniati, M.; Monti, S.; Cavarra, E.; Gambelli, F.; Battolla, L.; Lucattelli, M.; Lungarella, G. Int. J. Biochem. Cell Biol. 2002, 34, 594.
- (142) Huang, J.; Kang, J. J. Chromatogr., A 2007, 1175, 294.
- (143) Sato, T.; Kajikuri, T.; Saito, Y.; Chikuma, M.; Nagai, S. Clin. Chim. Acta 2008, 387, 113.
- (144) Ma, S. R.; Lin, Y. Y.; Turino, G. M. Chest 2007, 131, 1363.
- (145) Boutin, M.; Berthelette, C.; Gervais, F. G.; Scholand, M. B.; Hoidal, J.; Leppert, M. F.; Bateman, K. P.; Thibault, P. Anal. Chem. 2009, 81, 1881.
- (146) Ma, S. R.; Lin, Y. Y.; Tartell, L.; Turino, G. M. Respir. Res. 2009, 10.
- (147) Mok, T. S.; Wu, Y. L.; Thongprasert, S.; Yang, C. H.; Chu, D. T.; Saijo, N.; Sunpaweravong, P.; Han, B. H.; Margono, B.; Ichinose, Y.; Nishiwaki, Y.; Ohe, Y.; Yang, J. J.; Chewaskulyong, B.; Jiang, H. Y.; Duffield, E. L.; Watkins, C. L.; Armour, A. A.; Fukuoka, M. *N. Engl. J. Med.* **2009**, *361*, 947.
- (148) Ludwig, J. A.; Weinstein, J. N. Nat. Rev. Cancer 2005, 5, 845.
- (149) Rifai, N.; Gillette, M. A.; Carr, S. A. Nat. Biotechnol. 2006, 24, 971.
- (150) Schiess, R.; Wollscheid, B.; Aebersold, R. Mol. Oncol. 2009, 3, 33.
- (151) Brown, H. Mol. Oncol. 2009, 3, 5.
- (152) Gutman, S.; Kessler, L. G. Nat. Rev. Cancer 2006, 6, 565.
- (153) Jemal, A.; Siegel, R.; Ward, E.; Hao, Y. P.; Xu, J. Q.; Thun, M. J. *Ca-Cancer J. Clin.* **2009**, *59*, 225.
- (154) Fukuoka, M.; Yano, S.; Giaccone, G.; Tamura, T.; Nakagawa, K.; Douillard, J. Y.; Nishiwaki, Y.; Vansteenkiste, J.; Kudoh, S.; Rischin, D.; Eek, R.; Horai, T.; Noda, K.; Takata, I.; Smit, E.; Averbuch, S.; Macleod, A.; Feyereislova, A.; Dong, R. P.; Baselga, J. J. Clin. Oncol. 2003, 21, 2237.
- (155) Okano, T.; Kondo, T.; Fujii, K.; Nishimura, T.; Takano, T.; Ohe, Y.; Tsuta, K.; Matsuno, Y.; Gemma, A.; Kato, H.; Kudoh, S.; Hirohashi, S. *Clin. Cancer Res.* **2007**, *13*, 799.
- (156) Paez, J. G.; Janne, P. A.; Lee, J. C.; Tracy, S.; Greulich, H.; Gabriel, S.; Herman, P.; Kaye, F. J.; Lindeman, N.; Boggon, T. J.; Naoki, K.; Sasaki, H.; Fujii, Y.; Eck, M. J.; Sellers, W. R.; Johnson, B. E.; Meyerson, M. *Science* **2004**, *304*, 1497.
- (157) Kudoh, S.; Kato, H.; Nishiwaki, Y.; Fukuoka, M.; Nakata, K.; Ichinose, Y.; Tsuboi, M.; Yokota, S.; Nakagawa, K.; Suga, M.; Jiang, H.; Itoh, Y.; Armour, A.; Watkins, C.; Higenbottam, T.; Nyberg, F. *Am. J. Respir. Crit. Care Med.* **2008**, *177*, 1348.
- (158) Hirsch, F. R.; Varella-Garcia, M.; Bunn, P. A.; Di Maria, M. V.; Veve, R.; Bremnes, R. M.; Baron, A. E.; Zeng, C.; Franklin, W. A. *J. Clin. Oncol.* **2003**, *21*, 3798.
- (159) Chen, H. Y.; Yu, S. L.; Chen, C. H.; Chang, G. C.; Chen, C. Y.; Yuan, A.; Cheng, C. L.; Wang, C. H.; Terng, H. J.; Kao, S. F.; Chan, W. K.; Li, H. N.; Liu, C. C.; Singh, S.; Chen, W. J.; Chen, J. J. W.; Yang, P. C. N. Engl. J. Med. 2007, 356, 11.
- (160) Coussens, L.; Yangfeng, T. L.; Liao, Y. C.; Chen, E.; Gray, A.; McGrath, J.; Seeburg, P. H.; Libermann, T. A.; Schlessinger, J.; Francke, U.; Levinson, A.; Ullrich, A. Science **1985**, 230, 1132.
- (161) Slamon, D. J.; Godolphin, W.; Jones, L. A.; Holt, J. A.; Wong, S. G.; Keith, D. E.; Levin, W. J.; Stuart, S. G.; Udove, J.; Ullrich, A.; Press, M. F. *Science* **1989**, *244*, 707.
- (162) Wu, J. Y.; Shih, J. Y.; Yang, C. H.; Chen, K. Y.; Ho, C. C.; Yu, C. J.; Yang, P. C. Int. J. Cancer 2010, 126, 247.
- (163) Potti, A.; Mukherjee, S.; Petersen, R.; Dressman, H. K.; Bild, A.; Koontz, J.; Kratzke, R.; Watson, M. A.; Kelley, M.; Ginsburg, G. S.; West, M.; Harpole, D. H.; Nevins, J. R. *N. Engl. J. Med* **2006**, *355*, 570.

- (165) Plymoth, A.; Löfdahl, C. G.; Ekberg-Jansson, A.; Dahlbäck, M.; Broberg, P.; Foster, M.; Fehniger, T. E.; Marko-Varga, G. *Clin. Chem.* 2007, *53*, 636.
- (166) Cohen, S. In Understanding and Optimizing Human Development: From Cells to Patients to Populations; Kaler, S. G., Rennert, O. M., Eds.; New York Academy of Sciences: New York, 2004; Vol. 1038, p 98.
- (167) Cohen, S. J. Biol. Chem. 2008, 283, 33793.
- (168) Wells, A. Int. J. Biochem. Cell Biol. 1999, 31, 637.
- (169) Li, X.; Lee, J. W.; Graves, L. M.; Earp, H. S. EMBO J. 1998, 17, 2574.
- (170) Takano, T.; Ohe, Y.; Sakamoto, H.; Tsuta, K.; Matsuno, Y.; Tateishi, U.; Yamamoto, S.; Nokihara, H.; Yamamoto, N.; Sekine, I.; Kunitoh, H.; Shibata, T.; Sakiyama, T.; Yoshida, T.; Tamura, T. J. Clin. Oncol. 2005, 23, 6829.
- (171) Gschwind, A.; Fischer, O. M.; Ullrich, A. Nat. Rev. Cancer 2004, 4, 361.
- (172) Garrett, T. P. J.; McKern, N. M.; Lou, M. Z.; Elleman, T. C.; Adams, T. E.; Lovrecz, G. O.; Zhu, H. J.; Walker, F.; Frenkel, M. J.; Hoyne, P. A.; Jorissen, R. N.; Nice, E. C.; Burgess, A. W.; Ward, C. W. *Cell* **2002**, *110*, 763.
- (173) Ogiso, H.; Ishitani, R.; Nureki, O.; Fukai, S.; Yamanaka, M.; Kim, J. H.; Saito, K.; Sakamoto, A.; Inoue, M.; Shirouzu, M.; Yokoyama, S. *Cell* **2002**, *110*, 775.
- (174) Wu, S. L.; Kim, J.; Hancock, W. S.; Karger, B. L. J. Proteome Res. 2005, 4, 1155.
- (175) Dengjel, J.; Akimov, V.; Olsen, J. V.; Bunkenborg, J.; Mann, M.; Blagoev, B.; Andersen, J. S. Nat. Biotechnol. 2007, 25, 566.
- (176) Cappuzzo, F.; Gregorc, V.; Rossi, E.; Cancellieri, A.; Magrini, E.; Paties, C. T.; Ceresoli, G.; Lombardo, L.; Bartolini, S.; Calandri, C.; De Rosa, M.; Villa, E.; Crino, L. J. Clin. Oncol. 2003, 21, 2658.
- (177) Han, S. W.; Hwang, P. G.; Chung, D. H.; Kim, D. W.; Im, S. A.; Kim, Y. T.; Kim, T. Y.; Heo, D. S.; Bang, Y. J.; Kim, N. K. Int. J. Cancer 2005, 113, 109.
- (178) Jain, A.; Tindell, C. A.; Laux, I.; Hunter, J. B.; Curran, J.; Galkin, A.; Afar, D. E.; Aronson, N.; Shak, S.; Natale, R. B.; Agus, D. B. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* **2005**, *102*, 11858.
- (179) Marko-Varga, G.; Ogiwara, A.; Nishimura, T.; Kawamura, T.; Fujii, K.; Kawakami, T.; Kyono, Y.; Tu, H. K.; Anyoji, H.; Kanazawa, M.; Akimoto, S.; Hirano, T.; Tsuboi, M.; Nishio, K.; Hada, S.; Jiang, H.; Fukuoka, M.; Nakata, K.; Nishiwaki, Y.; Kunito, H.; Peers, I. S.; Harbron, C. G.; South, M. C.; Higenbottam, T.; Nyberg, F.; Kudoh, S.; Kato, H. J. Proteome Res. 2007, 6, 2925.
- (180) Rosell, R.; Moran, T.; Queralt, C.; Porta, R.; Cardenal, F.; Camps, C.; Majem, M.; Lopez-Vivanco, G.; Isla, D.; Provencio, M.; Insa, A.; Massuti, B.; Gonzalez-Larriba, J. L.; Paz-Ares, L.; Bover, I.; Garcia-Campelo, R.; Moreno, M. A.; Catot, S.; Rolfo, C.; Reguart, N.; Palmero, R.; Sanchez, J. M.; Bastus, R.; Mayo, C.; Bertran-Alamillo, J.; Molina, M. A.; Sanchez, J. J.; Taron, M. N. Engl. J. Med. 2009, 361, 958.
- (181) Inoue, A.; Saijo, Y.; Maemondo, M.; Gomi, K.; Tokue, Y.; Kimura, Y.; Ebina, M.; Kikuchi, T.; Moriya, T.; Nukiwa, T. *Lancet* **2003**, *361*, 137.
- (182) Nishimura, Y.; Yoshioka, K.; Bereczky, B.; Itoh, K. Mol. Cancer 2008, 7, 42.
- (183) Kakiuchi, S.; Daigo, Y.; Ishikawa, N.; Furukawa, C.; Tsunoda, T.; Yano, S.; Nakagawa, K.; Tsuruo, T.; Kohno, N.; Fukuoka, M.; Sone, S.; Nakamura, Y. *Hum. Mol. Genet.* **2004**, *13*, 3029.
- (184) Nishimura, T.; Ogiwara, A.; Kawamura, T.; Kawakami, T.; Kyono, Y.; Kanazawa, M.; Nyberg, F.; Marko-Varga, G.; Anyoji, H. International Patent WO/2007/144606, 2007.
- (185) Ogiwara, A.; Kawakami, T.; Nagasaka, K.; Naoki, K.; Wada, K.; Otsuji, M.; Komatsu, Y.; Nishimura, T.; Harbron, C. G.; Nyberg, F.; Marko-Varga, G. Keys to Success for Large-Scale Proteomics Analysis Conducted with a Clinical Study, 3rd EuPA Congress Clinical Proteomics, Stockholm, 2009; Marko-Varga, G., Laurell, T., Eds.; Ook Press: Veszprém, Hungary, 2009; p 252.
- (186) Nishimura, T.; Ogiwara, A.; Kawamura, T.; Kawakami, T.; Kyono, Y.; Kanazawa, M.; Nyberg, F.; Marko-Varga, G.; Anyoji, H. International Patent WO/2006/100446, 2006.
- (187) Mok, T.; Wu, Y. L.; Thongprasert, S.; Yang, C. H.; Chu, D.; Saijo, N.; Jiang, H.; Watkins, C.; Armour, A.; Fukuoka, M. Ann. Oncol. 2008, 19, 1.
- (188) Rikova, K.; Guo, A.; Zeng, Q.; Possemato, A.; Yu, J.; Haack, H.; Nardone, J.; Lee, K.; Reeves, C.; Li, Y.; Hu, Y.; Tan, Z. P.; Stokes, M.; Sullivan, L.; Mitchell, J.; Wetzel, R.; MacNeill, J.; Ren, J. M.; Yuan, J.; Bakalarski, C. E.; Villen, J.; Kornhauser, J. M.; Smith, B.; Li, D.; Zhou, X.; Gygi, S. P.; Gu, T. L.; Polakiewicz, R. D.; Rush, J.; Comb, M. J. Cell **2007**, *131*, 1190.

- (189) Spira, A.; Beane, J.; Shah, V.; Liu, G.; Schembri, F.; Yang, X. M.; Palma, J.; Brody, J. S. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* **2004**, *101*, 10143.
- (190) Spira, A.; Beane, J. E.; Shah, V.; Steiling, K.; Liu, G.; Schembri, F.;
 Gilman, S.; Dumas, Y. M.; Calner, P.; Sebastiani, P.; Sridhar, S.;
 Beamis, J.; Lamb, C.; Anderson, T.; Gerry, N.; Keane, J.; Lenburg,
 M. E.; Brody, J. S. *Nat. Med. (N. Y., NY, U. S.)* **2007**, *13*, 361.
- (191) Lynch, T. J.; Bell, D. W.; Sordella, R.; Gurubhagavatula, S.; Okimoto, R. A.; Brannigan, B. W.; Harris, P. L.; Haserlat, S. M.; Supko, J. G.; Haluska, F. G.; Louis, D. N.; Christiani, D. C.; Settleman, J.; Haber, D. A. N. Engl. J. Med. 2004, 350, 2129.
- (192) Breathnach, O. S.; Freidlin, B.; Conley, B.; Green, M. R.; Johnson, D. H.; Gandara, D. R.; O'Connell, M.; Shepherd, F. A.; Johnson, B. E. J. Clin. Oncol. 2001, 19, 1734.
- (193) Herbst, R. S. Semin. Oncol. 2003, 30, 34.
- (194) Joughin, B. A.; Naegle, K. M.; Huang, P. H.; Yaffe, M. B.; Lauffenburger, D. A.; White, F. M. Mol. BioSyst. 2009, 5, 59.
- (195) Hendriks, B. S.; Cook, J.; Burke, J. M.; Beusmans, J. M.; Lauffenburger, D. A.; de Graaf, D. *IEE Proc.: Syst. Biol.* 2006, *153*, 22.
- (196) Hendriks, B. S.; Griffiths, G. J.; Benson, R.; Kenyon, D.; Lazzara, M.; Swinton, J.; Beck, S.; Hickinson, M.; Beusmans, J. M.; Lauffenburger, D.; de Graaf, D. *IEE Proc.: Syst. Biol.* **2006**, *153*, 457.
- (197) Kharait, S.; Dhir, R.; Lauffenburger, D.; Wells, A. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 2006, 343, 848.
- (198) Philippar, U.; Roussos, E. T.; Oser, M.; Yamaguchi, H.; Kim, H. D.; Giampieri, S.; Wang, Y. R.; Goswami, S.; Wyckoff, J. B.; Lauffenburger, D. A.; Sahai, E.; Condeelis, J. S.; Gertler, F. B. *Dev. Cell* **2008**, *15*, 813.
- (199) Wolf-Yadlin, A.; Hautaniemi, S.; Lauffenburger, D. A.; White, F. M. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 2007, 104, 5860.
- (200) Nakamura, Y.; Oka, M.; Soda, H.; Shiozawa, K.; Yoshikawa, M.; Itoh, A.; Ikegami, Y.; Tsurutani, J.; Nakatomi, K.; Kitazaki, T.; Doi, S.; Yoshida, H.; Kohno, S. *Cancer Res.* **2005**, *65*, 1541.
- (201) Kishida, O.; Miyazaki, Y.; Murayama, Y.; Ogasa, M.; Miyazaki, T.; Yamamoto, T.; Watabe, K.; Tsutsui, S.; Kiyohara, T.; Shimomura, I.; Shinomura, Y. *Cancer Chemother. Pharmacol.* **2005**, *55*, 584.
- (202) Chen, G. A.; Gharib, T. G.; Wang, H.; Huang, C. C.; Kuick, R.; Thomas, D. G.; Shedden, K. A.; Misek, D. E.; Taylor, J. M. G.; Giordano, T. J.; Kardia, S. L. R.; Iannettoni, M. D.; Yee, J.; Hogg, P. J.; Orringer, M. B.; Hanash, S. M.; Beer, D. G. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* **2003**, *100*, 13537.
- (203) Sharma, S. V.; Bell, D. W.; Settleman, J.; Haber, D. A. Nat. Rev. Cancer 2007, 7, 169.
- (204) Pan, C. P.; Olsen, J. V.; Daub, H.; Mann, M. Mol. Cell. Proteomics 2009, 8, 2796.
- (205) Kruse, U.; Bantscheff, M.; Drewes, G.; Hopf, C. Mol. Cell. Proteomics 2008, 7, 1887.
- (206) Pawson, T.; Nash, P. Science 2003, 300, 445.
- (207) Thelemann, A.; Petti, F.; Griffin, G.; Iwata, K.; Hunt, T.; Settinari, T.; Fenyo, D.; Gibson, N.; Haley, J. D. Mol. Cell. Proteomics 2005, 4, 356.
- (208) Zhang, Y.; Wolf-Yadlin, A.; Ross, P. L.; Pappin, D. J.; Rush, J.; Lauffenburger, D. A.; White, F. M. Mol. Cell. Proteomics 2005, 4, 1240.
- (209) Ahram, M.; Flaig, M. J.; Gillespie, J. W.; Duray, P. H.; Linehan, W. M.; Ornstein, D. K.; Niu, S. L.; Zhao, Y. M.; Petricoin, E. F.; Emmert-Buck, M. R. *Proteomics* 2003, *3*, 413.
- (210) Hood, B. L.; Darfler, M. M.; Guiel, T. G.; Furusato, B.; Lucas, D. A.; Ringeisen, B. R.; Sesterhenn, I. A.; Conrads, T. P.; Veenstra, T. D.; Krizman, D. B. *Mol. Cell. Proteomics* **2005**, *4*, 1741.
- (211) Asamura, H.; Goya, T.; Koshiishi, Y.; Sohara, Y.; Eguchi, K.; Mori, M.; Nakanishi, Y.; Tsuchiya, R.; Shimokata, K.; Inoue, H.; Nitkiwa, T.; Miyaoka, E. J. Thorac. Oncol. 2008, 3, 46.
- (212) Herbst, R. S.; Heymach, J. V.; Lippman, S. M. N. Engl. J. Med. 2008, 359, 1367.
- (213) Kawamura, T.; Nomura, M.; Tojo, H.; Fujii, K.; Hamasaki, H.; Mikami, S.; Bando, Y.; Kato, H.; Nishimura, T. *J. Proteomics* 2010, 73, 1089.
- (214) Durr, E.; Yu, J.; Krasinska, K. M.; Carver, L. A.; Yates, J. R.; Testa, J. E.; Oh, P.; Schnitzer, J. E. *Nat. Biotechnol.* **2004**, *22*, 985.
- (215) Nishimura, T.; Nomura, M.; Tojo, H.; Hamasaki, H.; Fukuda, T.; Fujii, K.; Mikami, S.; Bando, Y.; Kato, H. J. Proteomics 2010, 73, 1100.
- (216) Nishimura, T.; Nomura, M.; Fukuda, T.; Fujii, K.; Kawamura, T.; Hamasaki, H.; Hike, H.; Bando, Y.; Kato, H. MRM MS-Based Assays to Identify Biomarkers for Lung Carcinoma of Large-Cell Neuroendocrine (LCNEC), 3rd EuPA Congress Clinical Proteomics, Stockholm, 2009; Marko-Varga, G., Laurell, T., Eds.; Ook Press: Veszprém, Hungary, 2009; p 62.
- (217) Abbatiello, S. E.; Mani, D. R.; Keshishian, H.; Carr, S. A. Clin. Chem. 2010, 56, 291.

- (218) Barr, J. R.; Maggio, V. L.; Patterson, D. G.; Cooper, G. R.; Henderson, L. O.; Turner, W. E.; Smith, S. J.; Hannon, W. H.; Needham, L. L.; Sampson, E. J. *Clin. Chem.* **1996**, *42*, 1676.
- (219) Stocklin, R.; Vu, L.; Vadas, L.; Cerini, F.; Kippen, A. D.; Offord, R. E.; Rose, K. Diabetes 1997, 46, 44.
- (220) Kippen, A. D.; Cerini, F.; Vadas, L.; Stocklin, R.; Vu, L.; Offord, R. E.; Rose, K. J. Biol. Chem. 1997, 272, 12513.
- (221) Blair, I. A.; Tilve, A. Curr. Drug Metab. 2002, 3, 463.
- (222) Kuhn, J.; Gotting, C.; Kleesiek, K. J. Pharm. Biomed. Anal. 2010, 51, 210.
- (223) Hopfgartner, G.; Bourgogne, E. Mass Spectrom. Rev. 2003, 22, 195.
- (224) Bunk, D. M.; Welch, M. J. J. Am. Soc. Mass Spectrom. 1997, 8, 1247.
- (225) Steen, H.; Pandey, A. Trends Biotechnol. 2002, 20, 361.
- (226) Barnidge, D. R.; Dratz, E. A.; Martin, T.; Bonilla, L. E.; Moran, L. B.; Lindall, A. Anal. Chem. 2003, 75, 445.
- (227) Kuhn, E.; Wu, J.; Karl, J.; Liao, H.; Zolg, W.; Guild, B. Proteomics 2004, 4, 1175.
- (228) Stemmann, O.; Zou, H.; Gerber, S. A.; Gygi, S. P.; Kirschner, M. W. *Cell* 2001, 107, 715.
- (229) Miliotis, T.; Ericsson, P. O.; Marko-Varga, G.; Svensson, R.; Nilsson, J.; Laurell, T.; Bischoff, R. J. Chromatogr., B 2001, 752, 323.
- (230) Gerber, S. A.; Rush, J.; Stemman, O.; Kirschner, M. W.; Gygi, S. P. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 2003, 100, 6940.
- (231) Mallick, P.; Schirle, M.; Chen, S. S.; Flory, M. R.; Lee, H.; Martin, D.; Raught, B.; Schmitt, R.; Werner, T.; Kuster, B.; Aebersold, R. *Nat. Biotechnol.* 2007, 25, 125.
- (232) Beynon, R. J.; Doherty, M. K.; Pratt, J. M.; Gaskell, S. J. Nat. Methods 2005, 2, 587.
- (233) Ferrarello, C. N.; Encinar, J. R.; Centineo, G.; Alonso, J. I. G.; de la Campa, M. R. F.; Sanz-Medel, A. J. Anal. At. Spectrom. 2002, 17, 1024.
- (234) Polatajko, A.; Banas, B.; Encinar, J. R.; Szpunar, J. Anal. Bioanal. Chem. 2005, 381, 844.
- (235) Busto, M. E. D.; Montes-Bayon, M.; Sanz-Medel, A. Anal. Chem. 2006, 78, 8218.
- (236) Lange, V.; Picotti, P.; Domon, B.; Aebersold, R. Mol. Syst. Biol. 2008, 4, 1.
- (237) Huttenhain, R.; Malmstrom, J.; Picotti, P.; Aebersold, R. Curr. Opin. Chem. Biol. 2009, 13, 518.
- (238) Lange, V.; Malmstrom, J. A.; Didion, J.; King, N. L.; Johansson, B. P.; Schafer, J.; Rameseder, J.; Wong, C. H.; Deutsch, E. W.; Brusniak, M. Y.; Buhlmann, P.; Bjorck, L.; Domon, B.; Aebersold, R. *Mol. Cell. Proteomics* **2008**, *7*, 1489.
- (239) Lopez, M. F.; Rezai, T.; Sarracino, D. A.; Prakash, A.; Krastins, B.; Athanas, A.; Singh, R. J.; Barnidg, D. R.; Oran, P.; Borges, C.; Nelson, R. W. *Clin. Chem.* **2010**, *56*, 281.
- (240) Stahl-Zeng, J.; Lange, V.; Ossola, R.; Eckhardt, K.; Krek, W.; Aebersold, R.; Domon, B. *Mol. Cell. Proteomics* 2007, 6, 1809.
- (241) Martin, D. B.; Holzman, T.; May, D.; Peterson, A.; Eastham, A.; Eng, J.; McIntosh, M. *Mol. Cell. Proteomics* **2008**, *7*, 2270.
- (242) Kirkpatrick, D. S.; Gerber, S. A.; Gygi, S. P. Methods 2005, 35, 265.
- (243) Fortin, T.; Salvador, A.; Charrier, J. P.; Lenz, C.; Bettsworth, F.; Lacoux, X.; Choquet-Kastylevsky, G.; Lemoine, J. Anal. Chem. 2009, 81, 9343.
- (244) Duncan, M. W.; Yergey, A. L.; Patterson, S. D. Proteomics 2009, 9, 1124.
- (245) Sherman, J.; McKay, M. J.; Ashman, K.; Molloy, M. P. Proteomics 2009, 9, 1120.
- (246) Kamiie, J.; Ohtsuki, S.; Iwase, R.; Unine, K.; Katsukura, Y.; Yanai, K.; Sekine, Y.; Uchida, Y.; Ito, S.; Terasaki, T. *Pharm. Res.* 2008, 25, 1469.
- (247) Scherl, A.; Shaffer, S. A.; Taylor, G. K.; Kulasekara, H. D.; Miller, S. I.; Goodlett, D. R. Anal. Chem. 2008, 80, 1182.
- (248) Sherwood, C. A.; Eastham, A.; Lee, L. W.; Risler, L.; Mirzaei, H.; Falkner, J. A.; Martin, D. B. J. Proteome Res. 2009, 8, 3746.
- (249) Yang, X.; Lazar, I. M. BMC Cancer 2009, 9.
- (250) Sherwood, C. A.; Eastham, A.; Lee, L. W.; Peterson, A.; Eng, J. K.; Shteynberg, D.; Mendoza, L.; Deutsch, E. W.; Risler, J.; Tasman, N.; Aebersold, R.; Lam, H.; Martin, D. B. J. Proteome Res. 2009, 8, 4396.
- (251) Sherwood, C. A.; Eastham, A.; Lee, L. W.; Risler, J.; Vitek, O.; Martin, D. B. J. Proteome Res. 2009, 8, 4243.
- (252) Baek, J. H.; Kim, H.; Shin, B.; Yu, M. H. J. Proteome Res. 2009, 8, 3625.
- (253) Sherman, J.; McKay, M. J.; Ashman, K.; Molloy, M. P. Mol. Cell. Proteomics 2009, 8, 2051.
- (254) Mead, J. A.; Bianco, L.; Ottone, V.; Barton, C.; Kay, R. G.; Lilley, K. S.; Bond, N. J.; Bessant, C. *Mol. Cell. Proteomics* **2009**, *8*, 696.
- (255) Walsh, G. M.; Lin, S.; Evans, D. M.; Khosrovi-Eghbal, A.; Beavis, R. C.; Kast, J. J. Proteomics 2009, 72, 838.
- (256) Deutsch, E. W.; Lam, H.; Aebersold, R. EMBO Rep. 2008, 9, 429.

- (257) Jeong, S. K.; Kwon, M. S.; Lee, E. Y.; Lee, H. J.; Cho, S. Y.; Kim, H.; Yoo, J. S.; Omenn, G. S.; Aebersold, R.; Hanash, S.; Paik, Y. K. *Proteomics* **2009**, *9*, 3729.
- (258) Anderson, N. L.; Anderson, N. G.; Haines, L. R.; Hardie, D. B.; Olafson, R. W.; Pearson, T. W. J. Proteome Res. 2004, 3, 235.
- (259) Anderson, L.; Hunter, C. L. Mol. Cell. Proteomics 2006, 5, 573.
- (260) Brun, V.; Dupuis, A.; Adrait, A.; Marcellin, M.; Thomas, D.; Court, M.; Vandenesch, F.; Garin, J. *Mol. Cell. Proteomics* 2007, *6*, 2139.
- (261) Orlando, R.; Lim, J. M.; Atwood, J. A.; Angel, P. M.; Fang, M.; Aoki, K.; Alvarez-Manilla, G.; Moremen, K. W.; York, W. S.; Tiemeyer, M.; Pierce, M.; Dalton, S.; Wells, L. J. Proteome Res. 2009, 8, 3816.
- (262) Paulovich, A. G.; Whiteaker, J. R.; Hoofnagle, A. N.; Wang, P. Proteomics: Clin. Appl. 2008, 2, 1386.
- (263) Whiteaker, J. R.; Zhang, H.; Zhao, L.; Wang, P.; Kelly-Spratt, K. S.; Ivey, R. G.; Piening, B. D.; Feng, L. C.; Kasarda, E.; Gurley, K. E.; Eng, J. K.; Chodosh, L. A.; Kemp, C. J.; McIntosh, M. W.; Paulovich, A. G. J. Proteome Res. 2007, 6, 3962.
- (264) Whiteaker, J. R.; Zhao, L.; Anderson, L.; Paulovich, A. G. Mol. Cell. Proteomics 2010, 9, 184.
- (265) Fong, B. Y.; Norris, C. S. J. Agric. Food Chem. 2009, 57, 6021.
- (266) Affolter, M.; Grass, L.; Vanrobaeys, F.; Casado, B.; Kussmann, M. J. Proteomics 2010, 76, 1079.
- (267) Picotti, P.; Lam, H.; Campbell, D.; Deutsch, E. W.; Mirzaei, H.; Ranish, J.; Domon, B.; Aebersold, R. Nat. Methods 2008, 5, 913.
- (268) Lin, S. H.; Shaler, T. A.; Becker, C. H. Anal. Chem. 2006, 78, 5762.
- (269) Williams, D. K.; Muddiman, D. C. J. Proteome Res. 2009, 8, 1085.
- (270) Hawkridge, A. M.; Heublein, D. M.; Bergen, H. R.; Cataliotti, A.; Burnett, J. C.; Muddiman, D. C. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 2005, 102, 17442.
- (271) Fortin, T.; Salvador, A.; Charrier, J. P.; Lenz, C.; Lacoux, X.; Morla, A.; Choquet-Kastylevsky, G.; Lemoine, J. *Mol. Cell. Proteomics* 2009, 8, 1006.
- (272) Kuzyk, M. A.; Smith, D.; Yang, J. C.; Cross, T. J.; Jackson, A. M.; Hardie, D. B.; Anderson, N. L.; Borchers, C. H. *Mol. Cell. Proteomics* 2009, *8*, 1860.
- (273) Craig, R.; Cortens, J. P.; Beavis, R. C. J. Proteome Res. 2004, 3, 1234.
- (274) Gnad, F.; Oroshi, M.; Birney, E.; Mann, M. Nucleic Acids Res. 2009, 37, D902.
- (275) Vizcaino, J. A.; Cote, R.; Reisinger, F.; Foster, J. M.; Mueller, M.; Rameseder, J.; Hermjakob, H.; Martens, L. Proteomics 2009, 9, 4276.
- (276) Keshishian, H.; Addona, T.; Burgess, M.; Mani, D. R.; Shi, X.; Kuhn, E.; Sabatine, M. S.; Gerszten, R. E.; Carr, S. A. *Mol. Cell. Proteomics* 2009, *8*, 2339.
- (277) Everley, P. A.; Bakalarski, C. E.; Elias, J. E.; Waghorne, C. G.; Beausoleil, S. A.; Gerber, S. A.; Faherty, B. K.; Zetter, B. R.; Gygi, S. P. J. Proteome Res. 2006, 5, 1224.

- (278) Keshishian, H.; Addona, T.; Burgess, M.; Kuhn, E.; Carr, S. A. Mol. Cell. Proteomics 2007, 6, 2212.
- (279) Jaffe, J. D.; Keshishian, H.; Chang, B.; Addona, T. A.; Gillette, M. A.; Carr, S. A. *Mol. Cell. Proteomics* **2008**, *7*, 1952.
- (280) Picotti, P.; Bodenmiller, B.; Mueller, L. N.; Domon, B.; Aebersold, R. Cell 2009, 138, 795.
- (281) Malmström, J.; Lee, H.; Nesvizhskii, A. I.; Shteynberg, D.; Mohanty, S.; Brunner, E.; Ye, M. L.; Weber, G.; Eckerskorn, C.; Aebersold, R. J. Proteome Res. 2006, 5, 2241.
- (282) Kuster, B.; Schirle, M.; Mallick, P.; Aebersold, R. Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol. 2005, 6, 577.
- (283) Brunner, E.; Ahrens, C. H.; Mohanty, S.; Baetschmann, H.; Loevenich, S.; Potthast, F.; Deutsch, E. W.; Panse, C.; de Lichtenberg, U.; Rinner, O.; Lee, H.; Pedrioli, P. G. A.; Malmstrom, J.; Koehler, K.; Schrimpf, S.; Krijgsveld, J.; Kregenow, F.; Heck, A. J. R.; Hafen, E.; Schlapbach, R.; Aebersold, R. *Nat. Biotechnol.* 2007, 25, 576.
- (284) Van, P. T.; Schmid, A. K.; King, N. L.; Kaur, A.; Pan, M.; Whitehead, K.; Koide, T.; Facciotti, M. T.; Goo, Y. A.; Deutsch, E. W.; Reiss, D. J.; Mallick, P.; Baliga, N. S. *J. Proteome Res.* **2008**, *7*, 3755.
- (285) Addona, T. A.; Abbatiello, S. E.; Schilling, B.; Skates, S. J.; Mani, D. R.; Bunk, D. M.; Spiegelman, C. H.; Zimmerman, L. J.; Ham, A.-J. L.; Keshishian, H.; Hall, S. C.; Allen, S.; Blackman, R. K.; Borchers, C. H.; Buck, C.; Cardasis, H. L.; Cusack, M. P.; Dodder, N. G.; Gibson, B. W.; Held, J. M.; Hiltke, T.; Jackson, A.; Johansen, E. B.; Kinsinger, C. R.; Li, J.; Mesri, M.; Neubert, T. A.; Niles, R. K.; Pulsipher, T. C.; Ransohoff, D.; Rodriguez, H.; Rudnick, P. A.; Smith, D.; Tabb, D. L.; Tegeler, T. J.; Variyath, A. M.; Vega-Montoto, L. J.; Wahlander, A.; Waldemarson, S.; Wang, M.; Whiteaker, J. R.; Zhao, L.; Anderson, N. L.; Fisher, S. J.; Liebler, D. C.; Paulovich, A. G.; Regnier, F. E.; Tempst, P.; Carr, S. A. Nat. Biotechnol. 2009, 27, 633.
- (286) Lilja, H.; Ulmert, D.; Bjork, T.; Becker, C.; Serio, A. M.; Nilsson, J. A.; Abrahamsson, P. A.; Vickers, A. J.; Berglund, G. J. Clin. Oncol. 2007, 25, 431.
- (287) Lilja, H.; Ulmert, D.; Vickers, A. J. Nat. Rev. Cancer 2008, 8, 268.
- (288) Végvári, Á.; Rezeli, M.; Welinder, C.; Malm, J.; Lilja, H.; Marko-Varga, G.; Laurell, T. J. Proteomics 2010, 76, 1137.
- (289) Khan, A. P.; Poisson, L. M.; Bhat, V.; Fermin, D.; Zhao, R.; Kalyana-Sundaram, S.; Michailidis, G.; Nesvizhskii, A. I.; Omenn, G. S.; Chinnaiyan, A. M.; Sreekumar, A. *Mol. Cell. Proteomics* **2010**, *9*, 298.
- (290) Barnidge, D. R.; Goodmanson, M. K.; Klee, G. G.; Muddiman, D. C. J. Proteome Res. 2004, 3, 644.
- (291) Tribl, F.; Asan, E.; Arzberger, T.; Tatschner, T.; Langenfeld, E.; Meyer, H. E.; Bringmann, G.; Riederer, P.; Gerlach, M.; Marcus, K. *Mol. Cell. Proteomics* **2009**, *8*, 1832.

CR100011X